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INTRODUCTION

Cable & Wireless HKT Limited (formerly “Hong Kong Telecommunications Limited”) was incorporated under the Companies Ordinance in Hong Kong in 1987 and is the holding company for a group of companies which operate in all the major markets for telecommunications services in the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the People’s Republic of China (“Hong Kong”). Our principal wholly-owned subsidiaries and their core lines of business are as follows:

· Cable & Wireless HKT International Limited
International telecommunications services

· Cable & Wireless HKT Telephone Limited
Local fixed-line telecommunications services

· Cable & Wireless HKT CSL Limited
Mobile telecommunications services

· Cable & Wireless HKT IMS Limited
Internet and interactive multimedia services

In this report, any reference to “we”, “us”, the “Company” or “Cable & Wireless HKT” means Cable & Wireless HKT Limited and, unless the context requires otherwise, its subsidiaries and affiliates.  References to “Shares” are to ordinary shares of HK$0.50 each in the capital of Cable & Wireless HKT.

FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

This report contains forward-looking statements.  These forward-looking statements are not historical facts, but rather are based on our current expectations, estimates and projections about Cable & Wireless HKT's industry, our beliefs and assumptions.  Words such as “anticipates”, “believes”, “estimates”, “expects”, “intends” and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements. These statements are not guarantees of future performance and are subject to risks, uncertainties and other factors, some of which are beyond our control, are difficult to predict and could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed or forecast in the forward-looking statements.  We caution you not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which reflect our management’s view only as of the date of this report.

EXCHANGE RATES

The Company publishes its consolidated financial statements in Hong Kong dollars.  In this annual report, references to “HK$” are to Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong, and references to “US dollars” and “US$” are to the lawful currency of the United States.  This annual report contains translations of certain Hong Kong dollar amounts into US dollars at specified rates solely for the convenience of the reader.  This does not mean that the currency conversions have been or could be translated at those rates.

Unless otherwise indicated, the translation of Hong Kong dollars into US dollars has been made at the rate of HK$7.80 to US$1.00.
Since October 17, 1983, the Hong Kong dollar has been linked to the US dollar at the rate of HK$7.80 to US$1.00. The central element in the arrangements which give effect to the link is an agreement between the Hong Kong SAR Government and the three Hong Kong banks that are authorized to issue Hong Kong currency in the form of banknotes. The market exchange rate of the Hong Kong dollar against the US dollar continues to be determined by the forces of supply and demand in the foreign exchange market. However, as a result of the fixed rate which applies to the issue of Hong Kong currency in the form of banknotes, the market exchange rate has not deviated significantly from the level of HK$7.80 to US$1.00.

The following table sets out the period end, average, high and low exchange rates between the Hong Kong dollar and the US dollar (in HK$ per US$) based on the noon buying rate in New York City for cable transfers in Hong Kong dollars as certified for customs purposes by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York in effect for each of the years indicated:


At
Average



Year Ended March 31,
Period End
Rate(1)
High(2)
Low(2)


(HK$ per US$1.00)







1995 ........................
7.7321
7.7301
7.7375
7.7253

1996 ........................
7.7348
7.7353
7.7414
7.7315

1997 ........................
7.7485
7.7400
7.7490
7.7323

1998 ........................
7.7495
7.7430
7.7500
7.7304

1999 ........................
7.7500
7.7476
7.7500
7.7433

1. These figures each represent the average of the exchange rates on the last day of each month during the period.

2.
These figures each represent the high and low of the exchange rates during the period using the exchange rates on the last day of each month during the period.

PART I
ITEM 1.

DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

CABLE & WIRELESS HKT LIMITED

Cable & Wireless HKT is Hong Kong’s leading provider of communications services.  Our services include basic telephony, mobile telecommunications, international voice and data services, specialized fax and data products, value-added services, Internet access, multimedia services, satellite links and telecommunications equipment and systems. 

The majority of our business and investments are in Hong Kong. We intend to participate in business opportunities and make investments in Greater China (Hong Kong, the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”), Taiwan and Macau) and elsewhere in the Asia Pacific region where we believe our communications experience and resources can enhance shareholder value. Our objective is to be Asia’s most successful integrated communications company.

We are a principal subsidiary of Cable and Wireless plc, a major global telecommunications business. Our shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and, in the form of American Depositary Shares, on the New York Stock Exchange, Inc. and the Pacific Stock Exchange, Inc.

Internet users can access information about Cable & Wireless HKT and our services at http://www.cwhkt.com.  Our web site is not a part of this Form 20-F.

INDUSTRY OVERVIEW AND COMPETITION

Telecommunications services may only be provided in Hong Kong under licenses granted by the Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (SAR) or the Telecommunications Authority pursuant to the Telecommunication Ordinance (Chapter 106 of the Laws of Hong Kong). The competing licensees include “carriers” who are licensed to establish public telecommunications infrastructure in Hong Kong and “service providers” who are licensed to establish limited facilities and to supply services using the networks of carriers.

The Hong Kong telecommunications market has evolved from an environment in which local telecommunications services were provided by Cable & Wireless HKT under an exclusive franchise to one in which there are four local fixed-line carriers, six mobile carriers and numerous other value-added service providers. The market for international services is currently undergoing a major transition with some 123 operators now licensed to provide international services. On January 20, 1998 Cable & Wireless HKT entered into an agreement (“Framework Agreement”) with the Hong Kong SAR Government for the surrender on March 31, 1998 of Cable & Wireless HKT’s exclusive international license.  The exclusive license was originally due to expire in September 2006.  In exchange for the surrender of the exclusive license, Cable & Wireless HKT received a package of compensation measures including HK$6,700 million in cash tax-free, the right to increase the monthly rental for local access lines and a new license valid until 2010 covering the provision of local and international facilities and services. The right to increase local access line rental charges is important to Cable & Wireless HKT because in the highly competitive market for international services it will no longer be able to cross-subsidize low local access rates with revenue from international services. Competition for international services commenced on January 1, 1999 and international facilities-based competition will begin on January 1, 2000. Further details of the surrender of our exclusive international license and the principal terms of the Framework Agreement are set out under “Surrender of Cable & Wireless HKT’s Exclusive International License” on page 14.

Following the signing of the Framework Agreement and the surrender of Cable & Wireless HKT’s exclusive international license, the Hong Kong SAR Government undertook a Review of Fixed Telecommunications and made a number of policy decisions concerning the liberalization of the telecommunications markets in Hong Kong. Below is an overview of the current licensees and of the telecommunications industry in Hong Kong:

· International Carriers - Under the Framework Agreement, Cable & Wireless HKT’s exclusive right to provide international facilities continues until January 1, 2000. Thereafter, Cable & Wireless HKT will have a non-exclusive license to provide international facilities until 2010, subject to renewal for a further 15 years.  The licenses of the other three local fixed-line carriers, Hutchison Communications Limited, New World Telephone Limited and New T&T Hong Kong Limited, were amended to allow them to provide international facilities from January 1, 2000, and are also valid to 2010 and subject to renewal for a further 15 years.  In addition, the Hong Kong SAR Government has stated that it will invite applications for new licenses for the operation of international facilities from January 1, 2000 for wireless/satellite providers and for those operators who invest in new overland or submarine cables to external locations. 

· Local Fixed-line Carriers - Local fixed-line facilities and services are currently provided by Cable & Wireless HKT and by three other local carriers, Hutchison Communications Limited, New World Telephone Limited and New T&T Hong Kong Limited.  When these three new carriers were issued licenses in July 1995, the Hong Kong SAR Government established a three-year moratorium on the issue of new licenses for fixed wireline-based networks.  The Hong Kong SAR Government has recently announced that this moratorium will be extended until 2003, subject to the commitment of those other local carriers to invest in local telecommunications infrastructure.

· In May 1999, the Hong Kong SAR Government announced that further licenses for local fixed networks based on wireless technologies would be issued and that the sole cable television network service in Hong Kong, Hong Kong Cable Television Limited, would be invited to apply for a license to operate fixed telecommunications services over its hybrid fiber coaxial cable network.

· Mobile Carriers - Local mobile cellular network services are provided by six operators: Cable & Wireless HKT, Hutchison Telephone Company Limited, Mandarin Communications Limited, New World PCS Limited, Peoples Telephone Company Limited and SmarTone Mobile Communications Limited.
· Radio Paging Service Providers - There are currently some 30 paging operators in Hong Kong who hold Radio Paging Systems licenses.  Cable & Wireless HKT has disposed of its own paging business but still offers paging services of other providers to those customers who require an integrated package of communications services.

· International and Local Service Providers - Under the Framework Agreement, Cable & Wireless HKT’s exclusive right to provide international telephone services ended on December 31, 1998. Since then, Cable & Wireless HKT has the right to provide these services on a non-exclusive basis until 2010, subject to renewal for a further 15 years. There are a large number of service providers holding  non-exclusive licenses for international voice, fax, data and value-added network services, international calling cards, virtual private network services and Internet services.

In addition to the telecommunications licenses set forth above, a number of video content services using telecommunications infrastructure require additional licensing under the Television Ordinance, including the supply of pay television and other broadcasting services such as Cable & Wireless HKT’s video-on-demand service. As part of its Review of Television Policy, the Hong Kong SAR Government announced in December 1998 that it would open up the television market for competition and authorize local fixed-line carriers to carry television services and cable television networks to deliver telecommunication services.  The Hong Kong SAR Government has recently invited applications for pay television licenses.

As a result of the Hong Kong SAR Government policy reviews described above, it is likely that there will be increased convergence between the telecommunications and television broadcasting industries in Hong Kong, which is likely to be reflected in a significantly changed regulatory regime.
DEVELOPMENT PLANS
The global telecommunications market is undergoing rapid change driven by new technology and increasing liberalization and competition. Following our agreement with the Hong Kong SAR Government to surrender our exclusive international license on March 31, 1998 and the introduction of international services competition with effect from January 1, 1999, Hong Kong has become one of the most liberalized and competitive telecommunications markets in the world. 

In anticipation of significant changes in our operating environment, Cable & Wireless HKT has continued the transformation of its business with development plans designed to maintain and enhance shareholder value by focusing on programs of growth, efficiency and rebalancing our earnings:

· We continue to rebalance our portfolio of earnings to develop growth in new business areas, with particular focus on the expansion of local network and delivery of enhanced communications services. Our wholly-digital local network represents considerable value which will be exploited through the development and provision of both enhanced narrowband and broadband services.  We have built a strong position in the Internet market in Hong Kong and we announced our “e-Vision” in March 1999.  This is a summary statement of our views of and our commitment to the continuing development of Internet and e-commerce in Hong Kong.  Included within this is our commitment to provide a secure and reliable communications environment to facilitate secure e-commerce and Internet trading; to stimulate the development of Internet use in Hong Kong and Asia through provision of Chinese-language Internet content and applications, and expanding access to our high speed broadband network; and to develop our position as a major hub for Internet traffic in Asia through growing our presence in Asia’s key markets.

· We will continue to diversify our telecommunications activities outside Hong Kong with a focus on Internet and advanced network services.  Recent examples include our involvement in mobile consulting projects in the mainland China and recent further investments in Taiwan through Taiwan Telecommunications Network Services, a value-added network services business, and in FIC Network Service, an Internet service provider.

· The most significant element of our revenue and profits in the past several years, including the year ended March 31, 1999, has been international telephone services.  We expect that there will be increasing pressure on prices and margins as the world’s international telecommunications markets continue to liberalize and as competition further develops in Hong Kong.

· We continue to expand our international business with a focus on enhancing our international network and connectivity to strengthen our competitive position as a hub for voice, data and Internet traffic in the Asia region. New international services will be delivered to meet the needs of local, regional and multinational customers. Hong Kong is one of the leading telecommunications centers in Asia in terms of international connectivity and range of enhanced telecommunications services. We will integrate our operations more closely with the global operations of the Cable & Wireless Group of companies, with whom we are uniquely placed to provide the most advanced global communications services to our customers. 

· Our mobile services face significant competition and margins for wireless voice services have reduced materially in the financial year ended March 31, 1999.  We are investing for growth in advanced wireless data services which will be closely integrated with our Internet and e-commerce activities.  To underpin this, our mobile network developments are focused on enhancing data transmission capabilities though adoption of so-called “third generation” wireless technologies during the next two to three years.

· We have achieved productivity gains by applying performance related remuneration across the whole Company and de-layering the Company’s organizational structure to enhance responsiveness to rapidly changing market conditions.  In January 1999, a share option scheme was introduced to enable all employees to become shareholders in the Company.

· We continue to differentiate our products and services through a focus on excellent quality of service, innovation and increasingly an integrated services portfolio.  To underpin this approach, we are developing an entrepreneurial climate within the Company and building the skills and capabilities we need to support the transformation of our business.  We have moved from being a monopoly provider of basic services to become a competitive, fully integrated communications company.

· In June 1999, we adopted a new brand name, Cable & Wireless HKT, to reinforce our identity as part of the world-leading Cable & Wireless integrated communications group, help fortify our goodwill and strong reputation in the telecommunications sector in Hong Kong, and support our expansion into Greater China and the Asia Pacific region.  On July 19, 1999, we changed our legal name to Cable & Wireless HKT Limited ([image: image2.png]


).

REVENUES
Substantially all of the revenue of Cable & Wireless HKT is derived from business carried on in Hong Kong. A breakdown of revenue by category of activity is as follows:


Year ended March 31,


1997
1998
1999

Operating revenue
HK$ m
%
HK$ m
%
HK$ m
%










International telecommunications services 

19,144
58.8
18,910
54.0
15,564
48.0


Local telecommunications services
7,977
24.5
8,886
25.4
9,401
29.0


Mobile services
4,602
14.1
5,996
17.1
5,824
18.0


Internet and interactive multimedia services
67
0.2
255
0.7
626
1.9


Technical and other services
788
2.4
994
2.8
996
3.1

Total
32,578
100.0
35,041
100.0
32,411
100.0

International Telecommunications Services

Cable & Wireless HKT provides international telecommunications exchange and transmission facilities and international telephone, data and video communications services, international private leased circuits, virtual private network services, satellite broadcast uplinking and downlinking services and telegram and telex services. We also provide wholesale networking services to other telecommunications operators and service providers, offering both leased network capacity and switched services. Our international network facilities are connected to the networks of the local fixed-line and mobile carriers for the delivery of international telecommunications services into and out of Hong Kong.

International Telecommunications Network Facilities

Cable & Wireless HKT has established and operates a number of telecommunications facilities, consisting of cable, radio and satellite based systems.  We have proprietary interests in, and access to, extensive capacity in digital submarine cables throughout the Asia Pacific region.   We continue to develop our international submarine cable network through the acquisition of interests and capacity in overseas cable systems and construction of new cables landing in Hong Kong. 
As at March 31, 1999, satellite communications facilities were provided through some 20 satellite dishes located at our earth station complexes in Hong Kong, which comprise the largest commercial teleport facility in Asia, and geo‑stationary satellites located over the Pacific and Indian Oceans.  Satellite capacity is leased from The International Telecommunications Satellite Organisation (INTELSAT), New Skies Satellites N.V. and from Asia Satellite Telecommunications Company Limited, a Hong Kong-based company.

International Telephone Services

Our international telephone services include international direct dial (“IDD”) calls, operator assisted overseas calls, calling card services and external dial-up audio content services.

The delivery of international telephone calls involves the establishment of a connection across a number of interconnected networks operated by different carriers. Cable & Wireless HKT operates international network facilities between the local fixed-line and mobile carriers, service resellers, and the networks of foreign carriers.

The most significant change for our international telephone business during the year was the introduction of International Simple Resale (“ISR”) on January 1, 1999 following the surrender of Cable & Wireless HKT’s exclusive international license.  With ISR, licensed service providers may operate international telephone services by re-selling the facilities of international carriers.  Until January 1, 2000 Cable & Wireless HKT has the exclusive right to provide international facilities to international service providers in Hong Kong.  After January 1, 2000 Cable & Wireless HKT will have the non-exclusive right to provide international facilities until 2010, subject to renewal for a further 15 years.

Pre January 1, 1999 Environment

Prior to January 1, 1999, all international switched public telephone services had to be delivered through Cable & Wireless HKT’s international switched network.  Cable & Wireless HKT’s revenues from international switched telephone calls were derived from its retail tariffs for outgoing calls and accounting rate payments for incoming calls received from foreign carriers.  Cable & Wireless HKT’s operating profit for international switched calls was a function of its tariffs, the accounting rates that applied between it and foreign carriers, the delivery fee that was payable to local operators for origination and termination of calls, and international network operating costs. 

Cable & Wireless HKT paid local fixed-line and mobile carriers (including our own fixed-line and mobile businesses) a delivery fee for originating and terminating international telephone traffic, and through this system revenue from international services subsidized local services which operated at a loss due to Government mandated prices. Cable & Wireless HKT and other local carriers, together with other service providers, maintained the customer interface and conducted all of the associated billing and collection functions for international calls.  These local operators collected customer retail payments for outgoing calls and paid to Cable & Wireless HKT an amount that was equal to its international retail tariff less the relevant local delivery fee and Universal Service Contribution (a government imposed fee to guarantee universal availability of basic telephone services throughout Hong Kong. See page 18 for further information). From this payment Cable & Wireless HKT made an accounting rate outpayment to the relevant foreign carrier.  For incoming calls Cable & Wireless HKT received an accounting rate inpayment from foreign carriers and from this Cable & Wireless HKT made payment of a delivery fee to the relevant local operator that delivered the call within Hong Kong, less its Universal Service Contribution.

The provision of international call services by the competing local carriers was stimulated by their ability to directly access customers over Cable & Wireless HKT’s local network to secure the delivery fee. The competing local fixed-line carriers then offered international telephone services using usual outbound calling techniques via Cable & Wireless HKT’s international switched telephone network as well as services using callback techniques. The growth of callback services in the period 1995 through 1998 impacted Cable & Wireless HKT’s market share of Hong Kong-originated traffic, the relative balance of Cable & Wireless HKT’s incoming to outgoing international traffic on certain routes (such as the United States, United Kingdom and Australia) and consequently distorted its revenues (through increased inpayments for incoming traffic) and its costs (increased delivery fee payments to other local carriers and lower outpayments to foreign carriers).

Environment after January 1, 1999

Following the surrender of Cable & Wireless HKT’s exclusive international franchise with effect from January 1, 1999, Hong Kong’s market for international telephone services has undergone fundamental structural change. Commencing from that date, in addition to being able to purchase wholesale switched minutes from Cable & Wireless HKT, licensed service providers are able to provide international telephone services through ISR on certain routes by leasing international network capacity from Cable & Wireless HKT.  International traffic delivered through ISR bypasses Cable & Wireless HKT’s international switched network and the accounting rate system so that Cable & Wireless HKT does not receive a per minute charge for outgoing calls nor an accounting rate inpayment for incoming calls.  International service providers using ISR must negotiate their own arrangements with foreign carriers for the delivery of outgoing and incoming calls through their leased international capacity.

Concurrent with the introduction of ISR on January 1, 1999, the Telecommunications Authority introduced a local access charge and a modified delivery fee system to encourage investment in local access facilities while removing the cross-subsidy of local services by international services  (see also “Legislative and Regulatory Developments” on page 14).

ISR Traffic: For outgoing calls delivered through international circuit capacity leased from Cable & Wireless HKT, under ISR Cable & Wireless HKT is paid a fixed charge regardless of the amount of telecommunications traffic that is carried over that circuit (unlike the per minute charge received for our switched external telephone services). The international service provider pays local access charges for both outgoing and incoming calls to the local carrier on whose access equipment the call is originated or terminated. For Cable & Wireless HKT, the local access charge is determined by the Telecommunications Authority. 

Non-ISR Traffic: For outgoing international calls delivered through Cable & Wireless HKT’s international switched network, the local carrier that originates the call pays to Cable & Wireless HKT a wholesale per minute rate. For calls on routes which are determined by the Telecommunications Authority to be competitive (“Category A routes”, see page 15) Cable & Wireless HKT agrees maximum wholesale rates with the Telecommunications Authority,  while for routes which are determined by the Telecommunications Authority to be non-competitive (“Category B routes”, see page 15) the Telecommunications Authority determines the wholesale rate.  For incoming international calls on Category A routes, Cable & Wireless HKT pays local access charges to the local carrier on whose access equipment the call is terminated. For incoming international calls on Category B routes, Cable & Wireless HKT shares the accounting rate inpayment (after switching and transmission costs) with the local carrier (including our own fixed-line and mobile businesses) by payment of a delivery fee. This delivery fee is only payable to the local carrier that terminates the call on its local fixed or wireless access equipment. The wholesale rates for outgoing traffic and delivery fees for incoming traffic are determined by the Telecommunications Authority with reference to the relevant accounting rate and the costs of international transmission.

The amounts of Universal Service Contribution payable to Cable & Wireless HKT are determined by the Telecommunications Authority and have been amended to reflect the introduction of ISR (see page 18). Other local interconnection charges may also apply depending on the local routing of the traffic.

In preparation for the structural changes in the international business, Cable & Wireless HKT achieved substantial reductions in its international delivery costs by negotiating significantly lower settlement rates with foreign carriers.  This gives Cable & Wireless HKT a highly competitive cost base as an international carrier and enables us to compete for retail market share with service providers using ISR.

There has been significant price competition in this market since January 1, 1999 and, as of July 31, 1999, 123 operators have been licensed to provide international telephone services from Hong Kong.  Cable & Wireless HKT continues to offer a range of competitive call plans and marketing campaigns targeting different customer segments under our 001 and 0060 brands, including Frequently Called Numbers, China Savings Plan, Volume Discount Plans and a number of short term promotions offering discounted international call rates. 

International Switched Telephone Traffic

Year ended March 31,


1997
1998
1999


(000s Minutes )

International Switched Telephone Traffic



Outgoing

1,738,613

1,717,974

1,681,582


Incoming

1,940,837

2,100,266

1,802,407

Total

3,679,450

3,818,240

3,483,989 


The overall market for international traffic declined throughout 1998 primarily due to the weaker economic environment in Asia. The introduction of ISR from January 1, 1999 enabled our competitors to by-pass the international accounting rate system and deliver traffic through international circuit capacity leased from Cable & Wireless HKT. Overall international traffic volumes (including minutes carried by Cable & Wireless HKT’s international switched telephone network and those carried for competitors through our international leased circuits) were stimulated by price competition in the last three months of the year ended March 31, 1999, although margins on this traffic were generally lower.

The majority of our competitors’ traffic to non-China destinations is now carried though leased circuits under ISR.  As a result, callback services have effectively ceased and the imbalance in the inbound to outbound call ratios on the routes from key liberalized countries to Hong Kong has significantly reduced.  However, the volume of international traffic delivered to or received from a particular destination continues to be affected by the refile of calls through third countries. The volume of refiled traffic is dependent upon the relative accounting rates between Hong Kong and the country of origination, on the one hand, and on the accounting rates between the transit country and Hong Kong and the cost of carrying the calls from the originating country to the transit country, on the other.   

International Leased Circuits and Private Networks
Cable & Wireless HKT has the exclusive right until December 31, 1999 to provide circuits and facilities for telecommunications between Hong Kong and places outside Hong Kong (including mainland China), including radiocommunication facilities, cable termination facilities, coast stations, coast earth stations within Hong Kong for maritime mobile services and maritime mobile satellite services, aeronautical stations and aeronautical earth stations for aeronautical mobile services and aeronautical mobile satellite services.  From January 1, 2000, Cable & Wireless HKT will have a non-exclusive right to provide such facilities.

Cable & Wireless HKT’s international circuits comprise dedicated capacity for which we receive a fixed charge regardless of the amount of telecommunications traffic that is carried over that circuit (unlike the per minute charge received for our switched external telephone services). Our external circuits are acquired both by end-users and service providers who use them to deliver switched services to customers through ISR.


March 31,


1997
1998
1999


(Megabits per second)






International Leased Circuit Capacity

382

646
1,202






Our customers for international leased circuits include companies establishing international private networks (for example banks, stockbrokers and multinational corporations), many of which require an international network of leased circuits. We offer a full managed service, including restoration, back‑up facilities and cost control. Cable & Wireless HKT serves as the hub and management centre for international private telecommunications networks of more than 500 multinational companies operating in Asia.  We believe our success in attracting and retaining such business has been mainly attributable to high quality service, close attention to individual customers’ requirements, and price competitiveness when compared with other telecommunications hubs in the Asia Pacific region. 

We also lease international circuits to service providers who provide competitive external telecommunications services, such as providers of international telephone, fax, data and value-added network services, virtual private network services and Internet services.

The rapid growth of the Internet, in terms of numbers of users, the average amount of time spent on-line, and the amount of data being delivered, has been a key driver of demand for international network capacity to and from Hong Kong in recent years.  As the Internet further develops in Hong Kong and the Asia Pacific region over the next few years we expect this trend of increasing demand for network capacity to continue.  We are positioning the Company to benefit from this growth by establishing strategic points of presence in other major markets in Asia, such as our investments in Taiwan Telecommunications Network Services and FIC Network Service in Taiwan, to support the development of Hong Kong as an Internet traffic hub.  In addition, through closer integration with other companies in the Cable & Wireless Group using network sharing and traffic management, we also aim to capture a share of the global growth in international data and Internet traffic.

LOCAL TELECOMMUNICATIONS SERVICES
Cable & Wireless HKT is well positioned to compete in the local market based on its services with advanced features, focus on customer service and well established position in the provision of such services.  As at March 31, 1999 the three other local fixed-line carriers had secured less than six per cent of the total directly-connected business lines in service and less than 1 per cent of residential lines.

Local Network and Equipment

Cable & Wireless HKT operates one of the most modern telecommunications networks in the world, including a comprehensive optical fiber network with approximately 445,000 kilometers of fiber contained in approximately 6,120 kilometres of cable.  Digitalization of the network was completed in July 1993, and all transmission links for exchange junctions are digital and all exchange equipment incorporates digital technology.

Our fully digital network is capable of supporting a wide range of customer services using voice, data and text applications including video services, integrated services digital network (ISDN) services and enhanced customer calling features.

In early 1997 we launched the first broadband asynchronous transfer mode (ATM) service in Hong Kong.   Through optical fibre-to-the-building and digital subscriber line (DSL) technology, as at March 31, 1999 our broadband network coverage reached more than 75 per cent of Hong Kong’s homes and all the major business areas in Hong Kong.  This broadband packet-switched network supports transmission of voice, high speed data and video services and has been configured for the delivery of our world-leading interactive television services (with constant bit rate transmission rates at up to 3 megabits per second downstream) and high-speed Internet access services (with transmission rates at up to 1.5 megabits per second downstream). This network is intended to be the platform for the launch of new high-speed multimedia services and e-commerce applications (see “Internet and Interactive Multimedia Services” on page 11 below).

Local Telephone and Data Services

Cable & Wireless HKT provides direct exchange lines for business and residential customers, wholesale interconnection services for other local operators, and public and private data network services.


March 31,


1997
1998
1999




Exchange lines in service





Business lines

1,390,848

1,485,789

1,470,665


Residential lines

2,044,464

2,106,466

2,157,837

Total

3,435,312

3,592,255

3,628,502






Value Added Services Customers





Homeselect packages 


-

108,820

259,210


Caller Display  


93,743

245,362

393,628






Local Digital Data Capacity

(Megabits per second)

17,566

41,065

51,254

Most of the public switched telephone network traffic in Hong Kong is carried on our network either as traffic from our retail services or as wholesale traffic carried for other local operators, including the competing fixed-line carriers, mobile carriers and Internet service providers.  We receive retail charges for the former and wholesale interconnection charges for the latter.  Interconnection charges include fees for the delivery of traffic as determined by the Telecommunications Authority and fees for the physical interconnection of facilities and network sharing as determined under commercial agreements between the local carriers.

Cable & Wireless HKT’s public data network supports a wide range of circuit and packet switched data services.  “Datapak” ISDN services enable a single line to be used for simultaneous voice and data communication and facilitate video-conferencing, connection of local-area networks and high speed Internet access.  Datapak Digital Data Services provide users with managed end-to-end transmission facilities, including point-to-point, point-to-multipoint (polling) and broadcast services within Hong Kong.  We also provide data services based on X.25, frame relay and ATM to support high volume transmissions or integrated data, voice and video traffic for corporate networks.

We also supply local private telecommunications circuits to service providers as wholesale customers. A large number of local circuits are leased by the other fixed-line and mobile carriers to connect their network facilities. The rapid growth in Internet use in Hong Kong is also driving demand for local leased circuits from Internet service providers for connection with the local and international Internet exchanges. The demand for certain kinds of circuits, such as ISDN, has grown so rapidly that the Company is facing some capacity constraints.  The balance of the leased circuits are provided to retail customers such as banks which have a requirement for private network telecommunications facilities. We also provide the local links for private international telecommunications circuits. Other local services we provide include payphones, dial up audio content services and a variety of value-added facsimile, virtual private network and video conferencing services.

Cable & Wireless HKT intends to build on its capabilities in information and communications technology, including data networks, Internet, Intranet, Extranet, e-commerce, on-line data security and interactive multimedia services, to develop and provide tailor-made integrated solutions for our corporate customers in Hong Kong.

In accordance with the Framework Agreement, Cable & Wireless HKT increased the rental for residential exchange lines from HK$68.90 per month to HK$90 per month with effect from September 1, 1999.  The Company has announced that there will be no further increase in the monthly rental rate for residential exchange lines before September 2000.

Local Equipment Sale & Rental

Cable & Wireless HKT supplies a full range of customer premises equipment including basic telephone sets, facsimile machines, small business telephone systems, private automated branch exchange (PABX) equipment, personal computers, modems, office automation equipment, home‑use cordless telephones, mobile telephones and pagers. Certain products, such as basic telephone sets and business exchange equipment, are also leased to customers.

We also design and provide individualised telecommunications systems that integrate voice and data switching equipment from various suppliers, and supply and install local and wide area data network equipment. Cable & Wireless HKT does not manufacture telecommunications equipment.

MOBILE SERVICES
Cable & Wireless HKT operates advanced digital GSM and D-AMPS mobile systems and serves all local market segments through its three mobile brands, 1010, One2Free and 1+1. We provide packages of post-paid mobile services and pre-paid rechargeable stored value mobile SIM cards. We also supply mobile handsets.

Our GSM network now comprises over 1,400 base stations providing coverage across Hong Kong.  We have pioneered many mobile technology innovations, including the world's first mobile phone service in an underground railway, the Hong Kong Mass Transit Railway, and we provide coverage in all eight vehicular tunnels in Hong Kong. In November 1998 we launched intelligent dual-band 900/1800 megahertz GSM services. We also have agreements with foreign mobile carriers to support automatic international roaming for our customers in over 100 countries.


March 31,


1997
1998
1999




Mobile Customers
390,000
860,000
948,000






The market for mobile telecommunications services in Hong Kong is highly competitive, with six companies operating eleven mobile networks. Intense price competition has stimulated growth in the overall market during the financial year ended March 31, 1999 and mobile services penetration increased to over 48 per cent at that time (some 3.2 million users), which is among the highest in the world. Price competition has reduced operating profit margins for all mobile operators in Hong Kong.  The number of mobile customers switching between operators (described as “churn”) also increased during the last year, particularly since the introduction of mobile number portability from March 1, 1999.  Mobile number portability allows mobile customers to retain their mobile telephone number when they switch to a different mobile services provider in Hong Kong.  We have focused on retention and growth in our customer base by providing  loyalty packages and innovative value-added services.  This strategy has been successful in both containing customer churn and attracting new customers to our services.

Cable & Wireless HKT’s packages of mobile services include enhanced calling features such as voice mail, call forwarding, call waiting, conference calling, caller display, news and information retrieval services, short text messaging, ‘secretarial’ paging services, mobile e-mail, fax and data transmission services.  In April 1999, we launched mobile banking services for the customers of a major bank in Hong Kong which enable users to access their personal account information via their Cable & Wireless HKT mobile handset.  We intend to extend these services to a number of the other banks in Hong Kong in the coming months.   In July 1999, we launched a mobile betting service with the Hong Kong Jockey Club.  This enables customers to place bets on the very popular local horse racing events via their Cable & Wireless HKT mobile handsets.  Other premium services currently under development include further integration with our Internet platform to provide wireless Internet access via handsets and mobile securities trading services in conjunction with local securities brokerages.  

Customer charges are generally based on a variety of pricing options, most of which combine a monthly access charge inclusive of a fixed amount of air-time, additional per minute air-time charges and service fees for enhanced features. IDD and international roaming fees are another significant source of revenue.

Our mobile network development is focused on supporting access to advanced multimedia and e-commerce services through adoption of third generation (“3G”) high speed wireless data technologies.   We have a strong commitment to launch services based on Wireless Applications Protocol (WAP - a wireless industry standard for delivering Internet services to mobile devices) during 1999 and intend to introduce General Packet Radio Services (GPRS) in 2000.  GPRS will provide substantial increases in transmission speeds to and from devices accessing our wireless network, from the current 9.6 kilobits per second up to 115 kilobits per second.
INTERNET AND INTERACTIVE MULTIMEDIA SERVICES

Our Internet services include access services through dial-up, broadband DSL and dedicated leased line connections, on-line content and applications through our Internet portals and total Internet solutions for businesses such as website hosting, e-mail, corporate Intranet and Extranet development and on-line security services.  Our NETPLUS business is Hong Kong’s leading wholesale provider of local and international Internet connectivity for other Internet service providers. 

Cable & Wireless HKT’s Internet revenues are derived primarily from customer subscriptions for dial-up and DSL-based access services and interconnection charges for our customers’ Internet traffic delivered over the public switched telephone network.  Portal advertising revenues currently represent a relatively small component of total Internet revenues. Interconnection revenues for Internet traffic delivered on our local switched network in respect of other service providers’ customers are reported under local telecommunications services.  Revenues for wholesale leased circuit services provided are reported respectively under local and international telecommunications services.  


March 31,


1997
1998
1999




Internet Access Services 






Hong Kong Dial-up customers 

73,000

166,000

311,000


Hong Kong Broadband customers

          -

            -

        11,000

Total

73,000

166,000

322,000






Interactive Television Service Customers

-

21,000

88,000






The Hong Kong market continues to show strong growth in customer numbers and Internet traffic and is currently contested by some 133 licensed Internet service providers.  Cable & Wireless HKT continues to leverage its well-established “NETVIGATOR” brand and offers a premium service to its customers through the provision of a high standard of both Internet connectivity and customer service.  NETVIGATOR was elected as Hong Kong’s ‘Best Internet Service Provider’ by readers of PC World Magazine (Hong Kong) in both 1997 and 1998.

In May 1998, we launched our high-speed Internet access service, now called “NETVIGATOR Ultraline 1.5M”, which offers Internet access at rates up to 1.5 megabits per second.  This is provided as a stand-alone service to business and residential customers and is also offered to customers with our interactive television services.

On December 31, 1998 we concluded  the acquisition of the business of Star Internet, the then second largest Internet service provider in Hong Kong with approximately 80,000 dial-up customer accounts.  As at March 31, 1999  NETVIGATOR held the leading position in Hong Kong’s Internet access services market with a customer base representing 47 per cent of the post-paid dial-up access market.

Our www.netvigator.com portal provides Internet users access to a broad range of content and applications in Chinese and English.  This website offers comprehensive local news, entertainment and financial information, search engines, web-based e-mail services and on-line scheduling tools.  As at March 31, 1999 this site’s average daily traffic was approximately 1.5 million pageviews and this had risen to approximately 2 million daily pageviews by July 31, 1999.

In July 1999, we launched our Chinese-language business content and services site business.netvigator.com targeted at business users in Hong Kong and Greater China.  This site includes real-time business news and functional on-line resources with transactional capability, such as courier services, on-line recruitment services, a global business and product directory.  Services and content are generally sourced from third party vendors.  Our portals generate revenue by hosting advertisements and also act as a sales channel for our network products and Internet solutions.

Our on-line interactive television (iTV) services, which were launched commercially in March 1998, include a broad range of on-demand entertainment and information services such as movies (video-on-demand), home shopping, music videos, radio, news, karaoke, home banking offered in conjunction with the Bank of China Group and educational content.  In January1999, we launched interactive MBA, a post-graduate degree course, in partnership with the City University of Hong Kong, utilizing iTV programming and our high-speed Internet access service.

In March 1999, Cable & Wireless HKT and Microsoft Corporation announced a strategic co-operation to develop a range of multimedia applications to be delivered to personal computers and televisions via our broadband network utilizing Microsoft software.  We are currently conducting joint internal trials with Microsoft of a package of consumer-oriented services including video-on-demand, voice services, software on demand, on-line news and network games.  It is anticipated that these services will be launched commercially before the end of 1999.

TECHNICAL AND OTHER SERVICES

We also provide technical, computer and engineering services, principally to the Hong Kong SAR Government, and telephone directory advertising services. In February 1998, we launched Cable & Wireless HKT Teleservices to provide call center services.

REGIONAL BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

The Company intends to pursue business opportunities or investments in Greater China and elsewhere in the Asia Pacific region.

Where it can be mutually beneficial to both Cable & Wireless and Cable & Wireless HKT, the two companies will jointly participate in business opportunities within the Asia Pacific region. For example, Cable & Wireless HKT and Cable & Wireless, through a joint venture company which is 51 per cent owned by Cable & Wireless and 49 per cent owned by Cable & Wireless HKT, controls a 30 per cent equity stake in MobileOne (Asia) Pte Limited, a joint venture company which operates mobile telecommunications services in Singapore. MobileOne launched services on April 1, 1997 and as at March 31, 1999,  had attained some 320,000 customers, representing a 32 per cent market share. 

In March 1999 Cable & Wireless HKT acquired an 85 per cent equity interest in FIC Network Service Inc. from First International Computer.  FIC Network Service provides Internet access services to residential and business customers in Taiwan.

In June 1999, Cable & Wireless HKT increased its equity interest in Taiwan Telecommunication Network Services Company Limited (“TTNS”) from approximately 21.4 per cent to approximately 60 per cent.  TTNS is a data network service provider and its major products include ATM data and information networks and Internet access supported by an extensive fiber optic network.

On September 23, 1999, Cable & Wireless HKT and Cable and Wireless plc announced the formation of a joint venture company called Cable & Wireless Asia.  At the same time Cable & Wireless Asia announced its first initiative to provide Internet services in Singapore. Cable & Wireless Asia has been set up to own business Internet service providers in the South East Asian region. Its aim will be to develop the Cable & Wireless Group’s Internet Protocol-related business in the region by establishing business Internet service providers in many of the region’s major cities. These Internet service providers will be linked by Cable & Wireless global broadband Internet Protocol network. Cable & Wireless HKT and Cable and Wireless plc will each hold a 50 per cent share in Cable & Wireless Asia.

LEGISLATIVE AND REGULATORY DEVELOPMENTS
Surrender of Cable & Wireless HKT’s Exclusive International License

Following many months of detailed and complex negotiations, on January 20, 1998 Cable & Wireless HKT entered into the Framework Agreement with the Hong Kong SAR Government for the early surrender of its exclusive license in return for a package of compensation measures, including HK$6,700 million in cash tax-free.

Pursuant to the Framework Agreement, the exclusive license was surrendered on March 31, 1998. At the same time, the scope of Cable & Wireless HKT’s non-exclusive local fixed-line license was amended to include the right to provide the same external services and circuits that Cable & Wireless HKT had been authorized to provide under the exclusive international license. Although Cable & Wireless HKT’s license is non-exclusive, under the Framework Agreement, competition for external telecommunications services was not introduced until January 1, 1999 and competition for external telecommunications facilities will not be introduced until January 1, 2000.

The principal terms of the Framework Agreement are as follows:

· The obligation of Cable & Wireless HKT to pay royalties to the Hong Kong SAR Government under the exclusive international license ceased with effect from January 20, 1998.

· Cable & Wireless HKT is allowed to increase its monthly rental charge for residential exchange lines in accordance with an agreed implementation schedule commencing January 1, 1999. This ‘rebalancing’ is intended to remove the cross-subsidisation of residential exchange lines with revenue from external services. The limits for the monthly charge for residential exchange lines are no more than HK$90.00 from January 1, 1999, no more than HK$100.00 from January 1, 2000 and no more than HK$110.00 from January 1, 2001. Due to the depressed economic conditions in Hong Kong, the first of these increases was delayed until September 1, 1999 and Cable & Wireless HKT has announced its intention not to implement the second increase until September 1, 2000. No price controls will apply to exchange line rentals from January 1, 2002, although they will continue to be subject to the tariffing obligations under Cable & Wireless HKT’s current license.

· Before increasing its charges for residential exchange lines, Cable & Wireless HKT was required to meet certain benchmarks by January 1, 1999 for making its local loop available to the competing fixed-line licensees.  Cable & Wireless HKT met this condition by January 1, 1999.

· Price controls on Cable & Wireless HKT’s local business exchange line tariffs were removed on July 1, 1998, although they will continue to be subject to the tariffing obligations under Cable & Wireless HKT’s current license.

· Cable & Wireless HKT agreed to limit increases in its charges for certain services (other than residential and business exchange lines) in accordance with the existing price control formula, subject to a review to be conducted by the Hong Kong SAR Government after January 1, 2000.

· The commencement of industry consultation with respect to proposed modification of the existing revenue sharing arrangements which require Cable & Wireless HKT to pay delivery fees to local fixed-line and mobile carriers on all external calls which are carried on Cable & Wireless HKT’s international switched telephone network.  These public consultations were completed on November 25, 1998 and a local access charge and modified delivery fee system was introduced with effect from January 1, 1999.  See “International Telephone Services  - Environment after January 1, 1999” on page 6.

· The Hong Kong SAR Government was required to pay Cable & Wireless HKT cash compensation of HK$6,700 million, tax-free. Cable & Wireless HKT received the first instalment of HK$3,350 million on March 31, 1998 and the second and final payment on June 30, 1998.

· The Regulatory Agreement which currently regulates the ownership and control of Cable & Wireless HKT International Limited will be terminated effective January 1, 2000.  See “Regulatory Agreement” on page 19.

Proposed Amendments to the Telecommunication Ordinance

The Hong Kong SAR Government has introduced a bill to amend the Telecommunication Ordinance. If adopted, the bill will broaden the application of a number of provisions which currently apply only to holders of fixed telecommunications licenses, such as facilities sharing obligations, accounting and reporting requirements, tariffing requirements and provisions prohibiting anti-competitive practices, including abuse of dominant position, misleading conduct and discriminatory supply by a dominant carrier. In addition the proposed law would give the Telecommunications Authority the power to make directions in relation to accounting rates, to issue class licenses, to set technical standards, to manage the radiocommunications spectrum, and to determine the terms of supply of unbundled network elements between carriers (in addition to interconnection). The new bill would give building owners the right to compulsorily acquire the telephone wiring in their buildings. It would also increase the maximum penalty for breaches of fixed telecommunications license conditions or a Direction of the Telecommunications Authority to HK$1 million, and allow the Telecommunications Authority to refer cases to the courts, which will have the power to increase the penalty to the higher of HK$10 million or 10% of turnover. In addition, the proposed amendments would provide a right of private action in the event of breaches of the Telecommunication Ordinance or license conditions.

Cable & Wireless HKT has given the Hong Kong SAR Government its comments on a number of provisions in the bill which, as currently drafted, could constrain the Company’s ability to compete in the market. In particular, the Company believes that the bill has no clear definition of the functions of the Telecommunications Authority, inadequate checks and balances on the powers of the Telecommunications Authority, and no effective right of appeal against decisions of the Telecommunications Authority.  The Company believes that the Telecommunications Authority’s power to impose substantial penalties should be subject to independent review, either by an administrative appeals tribunal or a court. In addition the Company believes that the Telecommunications Authority’s power to mandate unbundling of the local loop and sharing of facilities should be on condition that the facility required to be unbundled or shared is a bottleneck facility where there is no technical alternative, and that there must be fair compensation for the use of such a facility.  Cable & Wireless HKT supports the introduction of a general competition law to replace the current telecommunications sector specific competition regulation.   
Local Access Charge and Modified Delivery Fee System

The Telecommunications Authority introduced a local access charge and modified delivery system from January 1, 1999 concurrently with the introduction of ISR. The Telecommunications Authority defined “Category A” routes as those where service providers have an alternative to Cable & Wireless HKT’s international switched network for the delivery of international calls and where there was demonstrable price competition for wholesale services.  These routes included countries which have international facilities-based competition or that authorize ISR, such as the countries of North America and Western Europe, plus Australia, New Zealand, Japan and Korea.  For traffic on these routes, Cable & Wireless HKT would pay a local access charge to the local carrier that originated or terminated the call in Hong Kong.  “Category B” routes were defined as those that did not meet the conditions to be classified as Category A and include routes such as mainland China and other countries where international facilities-based competition or ISR has not been authorized.  For Category B traffic, the Telecommunications Authority determines the wholesale rates payable by local operators to Cable & Wireless HKT for the delivery of outgoing traffic and the delivery fee payable by Cable & Wireless HKT to the local operator for terminating incoming traffic in Hong Kong.

The Telecommunications Authority also set out a procedure for reclassification of routes from Category B to Category A. This procedure further divided Category B routes into those which were potentially competitive through indirect ISR means like refile and those which were not. Potentially competitive Category B routes were placed on an observation list and are subject to a fast track process for reclassification to Category A. The Telecommunications Authority can commence the reclassification process either on his own initiative or following representations from the industry that a route is competitive. The Telecommunications Authority then initiates an industry consultation to reclassify the route from Category B to Category A. Under the fast track arrangements, the industry has seven working days to comment and the Telecommunications Authority has a further three working days to decide whether to reclassify a route. For Category B routes not on the Observation List, the industry has fifteen working days to comment and the Telecommunications Authority has a further ten working days to make a decision whether to reclassify.

Following representations from Cable & Wireless HKT, on August 4, 1999 the Telecommunications Authority issued a Statement about reclassification of eleven major regional routes, excluding the PRC, on the Category B Observation List.  The Telecommunications Authority concluded that, for ten of the routes, genuine price competition could be established in the outgoing direction, but such competition had not been established in the incoming direction.  Therefore, the Telecommunications Authority declined to reclassify these routes. However, the Telecommunications Authority recognised the existence of competition in the outgoing direction and, although these routes remained on the Category B Observation List, the Telecommunications Authority removed the control of the gateway prices in the outgoing direction as if the routes had been reclassified as Category A.  For the eleventh route, the Telecommunications Authority concluded competition had not been established in either outgoing or incoming directions and the route would remain on the Category B Observation List and be treated the same as other Category B routes.

Retail Pricing

Cable & Wireless HKT is currently deemed by the Telecommunications Authority to be dominant in all the markets for the provision of fixed telephone services in Hong Kong, except in the provision of international telephone services to Category A destinations with effect from August 12, 1999.  The dominant carrier provisions of Cable & Wireless HKT’s license include requirements for Cable & Wireless HKT to obtain prior approval of the Telecommunications Authority for all its tariffs and to publish all of its tariffs (including any discount methodologies), to provide a full range of accounting information to the Telecommunications Authority, and to abide by regulations prohibiting abuse of its dominant position. 

Prior to the execution of the Framework Agreement, Cable & Wireless HKT was subject to strict price controls under the regulations promulgated under the Telephone Ordinance. The Framework Agreement provides for removal of the price controls which previously applied to Cable & Wireless HKT.  Specifically, the restrictions on business exchange line tariffs were removed with effect from July 1, 1998 and Cable & Wireless HKT will be allowed to increase its residential line rental charges over a period of three years to January 1, 2001 when all of the restrictions on residential line rental charges will cease. On August 6, 1999, Cable & Wireless HKT announced an increase in monthly charges for residential telephone lines from HK$68.90 to HK$90 with effect from September 1, 1999. Cable & Wireless HKT has announced that there will be no further increase of the local residential line tariff before September 2000.  Cable & Wireless HKT has agreed to limit price increases for a basket of other services to the change in the level of Hong Kong’s consumer price index minus 4 per cent until January 1, 2000 when this arrangement will be reviewed by the Telecommunications Authority. 
Notwithstanding removal of the statutory price controls which previously applied, Cable & Wireless HKT may not, so long as it is the dominant supplier of a service, offer to supply its services at more or less than its approved tariff rates and any discounting methodologies must be approved by the Telecommunications Authority.  The Telecommunications Authority has the discretion to disallow variations in Cable & Wireless HKT’s charges (both increases and decreases). The Telecommunications Authority must accept or reject tariff applications within 45 days for new services and charges and within 30 days for revised services and charges. 

Unauthorized Discounts

In April 1998, the Telecommunications Authority issued a direction to Cable & Wireless HKT to refrain from offering certain discounts and bundled services that had not been approved by the Telecommunications Authority. On June 29, 1998 the Telecommunications Authority issued a further direction with respect to such practices, directed Cable & Wireless HKT to withdraw all offers that had been made, and imposed a fine of HK$20,000.

On February 12, 1999, the Telecommunications Authority issued a Direction to Cable & Wireless HKT regarding certain joint marketing activities.  Through such joint marketing activities, certain customers would carry out marketing activities for Cable & Wireless HKT.  Although the Telecommunications Authority accepted that joint marketing activities are a widely used form of business promotion, he decided that the majority of the joint marketing activity fees investigated were based on a percentage of the telecommunication services expenditure of the customer. The Telecommunications Authority issued a number of directions to Cable & Wireless HKT which effectively caused the cessation of many of its joint marketing activities and the Telecommunications Authority imposed a penalty of HK$50,000.

Non-Dominance in International Telephone Services

On August 4, 1999, the Telecommunications Authority issued his Direction on Cable & Wireless HKT’s application for non-dominant status in the market for international call services on non-China routes.  The Telecommunications Authority’s decision, in effect, waived the dominant status of Cable & Wireless HKT for outbound retail services on those routes classified as being in Category A—that is, where the wholesale market is deemed to be sufficiently competitive—subject to certain conditions relating to assurances on regulatory compliance and pricing support information.  These routes include the countries of North America and Western Europe, plus Australia, New Zealand, Japan and Korea, all of which have international facilities competition or competition based on international simple resale.  This decision should afford Cable & Wireless HKT significant additional pricing flexibility for its retail services on these routes.  The Telecommunications Authority made clear that any further non-dominance findings would depend upon the re-classification of further routes from Category B to Category A.

Interconnection and Facilities Sharing

Under the terms of their licenses, Cable & Wireless HKT and the other local fixed-line carriers are required to interconnect their services and networks with each other and with those of the mobile and international carriers. The local fixed-line carriers are also required to share certain facilities where sharing of those facilities is considered by the Telecommunications Authority to be in the public interest having taken into account a number of factors, including whether the facility is a bottleneck, whether the facility has available capacity, and the existence of technical alternatives for the facility.  The licenses also allow the Telecommunications Authority to intervene if the terms of interconnection or facilities sharing cannot be agreed between the parties.

Cable & Wireless HKT concluded interconnection agreements with each of the other fixed-line telecommunications licensees in 1995.  On August 21, 1998 the Telecommunications Authority issued a determination of the fixed-line telecommunications interconnect charges payable between Cable & Wireless HKT and New T&T Hong Kong Limited which will be applied in accordance with the commercial interconnection agreements, as follows:


Charge per minute HK$


July 1, 1998 to June 30, 1999


PSTN
ISDN

Originating/terminating calls




Per call occupancy minute
0.022
0.022


Per call attempt
0.033
0.065

Transit calls




Per call occupancy minute
0.019
0.015


Per call attempt
0.008
0.007

The Telecommunications Authority has encouraged the other two fixed-line telecommunications licensees, Hutchison Communications Limited and New World Telephone Limited, to make reference to the levels of charges in the determination in their commercial negotiations with Cable & Wireless HKT on interconnection charges.

Cable & Wireless HKT has concluded commercial agreements with each of the other fixed-line telecommunications licensees for them to have access to Cable & Wireless HKT’s copper local lines between the local exchange and customer sites for voice and basic rate ISDN services. These agreements allow customers to switch their direct network connection between Cable & Wireless HKT and the other fixed-line telecommunications licensees. The ability to provide a direct connection to customers utilizing Cable & Wireless HKT’s network will enhance the potential of the other fixed-line telecommunications licensees to provide services to their customers. 

Pursuant to the Framework Agreement, as a condition for Cable & Wireless HKT to be able to rebalance its local access line rental charges, Cable & Wireless HKT offered to make available local access lines at agreed exchanges covering at least 50 per cent of residential exchange lines in Hong Kong to the other fixed-line telecommunications licensees by January 1, 1999 under the terms of the existing commercial agreements.

On April 16, 1999, Cable & Wireless HKT and New World Telephone Limited reached agreement on an amendment to their existing commercial agreement which covers two types of local access lines: 


Basic Grade
Premium Grade

Monthly Usage Charge
HK$42 
HK$42

Installation Charge
HK$475
HK$875

Capability
Transmission bandwidth will be 300 Hz to 3,400 Hz. The transmission bandwidth may, but is not guaranteed to, meet 300 Hz to 50 kHz. 
Transmission bandwidth will be 300 Hz to 50 kHz

An offer to amend existing commercial agreements was made to New T&T Limited, which accepted in June 1999, and to Hutchison Communications Limited, which has not accepted to date. 

Universal Service Contribution

The special conditions of Cable & Wireless HKT’s fixed-line carrier license include a Universal Service Obligation.  This is an obligation to provide, maintain and operate a fixed-line telecommunication network in such a way so as to ensure that a good, efficient and continuous basic telephone service is reasonably available to all residents of Hong Kong. Cable & Wireless HKT receives a Universal Service Contribution, as determined by the Telecommunications Authority from time to time, towards the cost of providing such basic services to customers where such provision would otherwise be uneconomical.  The Universal Service Contribution is paid to Cable & Wireless HKT by other operators in proportion to their external traffic minutes.

The Telecommunications Authority has stated that the provisional level for the Universal Service Contribution for the  period April 1, 1998 to December 31, 1998 is HK$0.136 per minute.  Recognizing the revised local access charge regime, the Telecommunications Authority amended the basis for the Universal Service Contribution for the period from January 1, 1999 which was provisionally set as follows:

(i) for traffic over Category  A routes
HK$0.068 per minute

(ii) traffic over Category B routes 
 HK$0.106 per minute

On May 28, 1999 the Telecommunications Authority issued a statement outlining a revised Universal Service Contribution collection mechanism and assigned the collection task to an intermediary agent in order to protect the confidentiality of traffic data.

In August 1999, the Telecommunications Authority commenced a consultation to review which costs and revenues are relevant for Universal Service Contribution in light of the changes in the industry since the introduction of ISR and this may result in the finalized rates differing from the provisional rates stated above.
Mobile Number Portability

On August 28, 1998, the Telecommunications Authority released a Code of Practice for the implementation of mobile number portability, together with a direction to the local fixed-line and mobile carriers to facilitate mobile number portability so that the Code of Practice could be fully complied with by March 1, 1999.   As of July 31, 1999 some 290,000 mobile numbers had been ported between the networks of mobile operators.

Broadband Local Access Consultation

The Telecommunications Authority is expected to issue a public consultation paper before the end of 1999 seeking views on its future policies with respect to promoting broadband local access.  Cable & Wireless HKT cannot yet make any assessment of the impact of changes such consultation may bring about. 

Review of Television Policy

On September 3, 1998, the Information Technology and Broadcasting Bureau (ITBB) issued a consultation paper for the 1998 Review of Television Policy in which it proposed:

· Merging the existing legislative frameworks for broadcasting and telecommunications under the new Omnibus Broadcasting Bill.

· Allowing fixed-line telecommunications licensees to provide television services.

· Allowing Hong Kong Cable Television Limited to offer telecommunications services.

· Opening the broadband network of Hong Kong Cable Television Limited for interconnection.

· Introducing a four-tiered regulatory and licensing structure for television services.

· Help to resolve the bottleneck situation of in-building television distribution systems.

The ITBB announced on December 9, 1998 that most of the proposals would be adopted.  Pursuant to the decisions made, the Telecommunications Authority conducted a consultation for a review of the distribution of the frequency channels inside the in-building coaxial cable system in March 1999.  A guidance note for television broadcasting license applications was published by the ITBB on August 14, 1999.  Applications for pay television licenses are to be submitted by October 15, 1999.

Cable Television Equal Access

The Telecommunications Authority has invited Hong Kong Cable Television Limited to apply for a license to provide telecommunications services as a fixed-line telecommunications provider by October 15, 1999, including its proposed cable modem service for broadband Internet access.  The Telecommunications Authority will condition the approval of this license on satisfactory commitments from Hong Kong Cable Television Limited regarding the return of its microwave spectrum (and the necessary fiber replacement that implies), the provision of interconnection to other fixed-line telecommunications licensees and the assurance of equal access over its network for other Internet service providers.
REGULATORY AGREEMENT
Since December 1987, Cable & Wireless HKT and certain other Cable & Wireless Group companies have been bound by an agreement with the Hong Kong SAR Government (“Regulatory Agreement”) which imposes certain restrictions on changes of ownership and management control of Cable & Wireless HKT International Limited (“Cable & Wireless HKT International”).  A copy of the Regulatory Agreement was filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Registration Statement on Form F‑1 (File No. 33‑25377), filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 7, 1988 in connection with the initial offering of Cable & Wireless HKT’s ADSs in the United States.

For as long as the Regulatory Agreement remains in effect, Cable and Wireless plc and/or a wholly-owned subsidiary of Cable and Wireless plc must retain ultimate beneficial ownership of Shares in the Company carrying the right to exercise more than 50 per cent of the votes ordinarily exercisable at general meetings of the Company.

Under the Regulatory Agreement, the Company may not, without the prior written consent of the Hong Kong SAR Government, transfer or dispose of its Shares in Cable & Wireless HKT International except to certain affiliated companies.  No share capital in Cable & Wireless HKT International may be issued without the prior written consent of the Hong Kong SAR Government, other than to the Company or to certain affiliated companies.  In addition, the Hong Kong SAR Government is entitled to representation on the Board of Cable & Wireless HKT International.

Pursuant to the Framework Agreement, the Regulatory Agreement will be terminated with effect from January 1, 2000.

ORGANIZATION AND MANAGEMENT

The management of Cable & Wireless HKT is vested in its board of directors. The overall strategy of the Company is determined by the Board of Directors and implemented by its chief executive. Day-to-day management of the Company is vested in six executive directors. Each of the principal operating subsidiaries of Cable & Wireless HKT has a separate board of directors, which includes at least one of the executive directors of Cable & Wireless HKT.

EMPLOYEES


March 31,


1997
1998
1999






Employees

13,767

14,702

13,643






Cable & Wireless HKT is one of the largest private sector employers in Hong Kong.  We are driving for continued productivity improvements with initiatives such as performance related compensation. In July 1998, Cable & Wireless HKT announced that 270 staff were to be released as part of management’s ongoing focus on de-layering the organizational structure.  
Cable & Wireless HKT has the right to obtain employees on assignment from other companies in the Cable & Wireless Group under an agreement between Cable & Wireless HKT and Cable and Wireless plc. Currently, the Chief Executive, three of the executive directors and 35 other members of Cable & Wireless HKT’s staff are employees on assignment from Cable and Wireless plc.  See “Relationship with Cable and Wireless plc” on page 21.

A staff consultative body named the Joint Staff Council represents most of Cable & Wireless HKT’s staff. 

RELATIONSHIP WITH CABLE AND WIRELESS PLC

The Cable & Wireless Group has operated in Hong Kong for more than 50 years and has considerable experience in the regulatory, business and technological environment in which the Company operates, as well as extensive knowledge of the telecommunications industry worldwide.

The Company has derived, and expects to continue to derive, considerable benefit from services made available by Cable and Wireless plc. These services include the provision of management and senior staff, strategic planning and product evaluation, marketing, business development, engineering resources, forecasting, corporate insurance and personnel functions, training and training facilities, technical expertise and procurement.

A management and technical services agreement between the Company and Cable and Wireless plc was signed on December 28, 1994. This agreement relates to the provision by Cable and Wireless plc of management and technical services (including services relating to the development or enhancement of telecommunications systems) and trade marks (in particular, use of the Cable & Wireless name and logo). The costs payable by the Company under the agreement were HK$209.6 million, HK$221.0 million and HK$112.0 million for the years ended March 31, 1997, 1998 and 1999, respectively.  The management fees payable in 1999 were lower due to the new arrangements with Cable & Wireless Global Markets, described below.   The agreement will continue until terminated by either party by giving not less than two years’ prior written notice to the other. Under the agreement, the amounts payable by the Company are primarily based on a sum equal to the cost of the services provided plus a small uplift figure (initially 7.2 per cent), taking into account an appropriate allocation of Cable and Wireless plc’s indirect costs and in accordance, where applicable, with generally accepted accounting principles in the United Kingdom. This basis is subject to periodic review by the parties. The royalty rate for licensed trade marks is 8 per cent of the relevant revenues derived from sales of relevant products and services utilizing Cable and Wireless plc’s trade marks.  This agreement is currently under review by the parties. 

The Company has an arrangement with the Cable & Wireless Group for the assignment of the Company staff at cost to work for subsidiary or associated companies of Cable and Wireless plc (see also “Employees” on page 20 and “Item 10. Directors and Officers of Registrant” on page 45).

Cable & Wireless HKT entered into formal agreements with Cable & Wireless Global Markets (“CWGM”) on new arrangements for the provision of telecommunications services to certain global customers with effect from April 1, 1998. CWGM is the trade name of a wholly-owned subsidiary of Cable and Wireless plc.  Under this agreement, Cable & Wireless HKT has transferred the management of certain of its existing business contracts with some 51 multinational customers to CWGM in return for Cable & Wireless HKT becoming the exclusive supplier of telecommunications services in Hong Kong and the Asia region for such customers on normal commercial terms. The purpose of the transaction is to protect and increase Cable & Wireless HKT’s revenues in the important and competitive multinational sector by restructuring its existing commercial arrangements with Cable and Wireless plc, an established global operator. The sale of telecommunications services to CWGM for the year ended March 31, 1999 amounted to HK$414 million. The Company also pays a global services management fee to CWGM for its central co-ordination of global managed services. The fee is dependent on the services provided by CWGM and is calculated at the rate of 17.5 per cent of the relevant revenues achieved by Cable & Wireless HKT, and amounted to HK$101 million in the year ended March 31, 1999. The Company received an administration fee of HK$9 million for providing various administrative services to CWGM. These services are provided by Cable & Wireless HKT at cost plus an uplift figure of 5 per cent. 

Members of the Cable & Wireless Group are among the international administrations with which the Company exchanges external telecommunications traffic in the ordinary course of business on normal commercial terms.

HONG KONG

On July 1, 1997, the exercise of sovereignty over Hong Kong was transferred from the Government of the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland to the Central People’s Government of the PRC. On that date, Hong Kong became a Special Administrative Region of the PRC.  The agreement between the British and PRC Governments regarding this transfer is embodied in the Joint Declaration, which was signed on December 1, 1984 and subsequently ratified by both governments. Acting pursuant to the Joint Declaration, in April 1990 the National People’s Congress (“NPC”) of the PRC adopted the Basic Law, which is now the basic constitutional document of the Hong Kong SAR. The Basic Law provides that the Hong Kong SAR shall be directly under the authority of the Central People’s Government of the PRC and shall enjoy a high degree of autonomy except in foreign and defense affairs, and that it shall be vested with executive, legislative and independent judicial power. It also provides that the current social and economic systems in Hong Kong will remain unchanged for a period of 50 years after June 30, 1997. Existing freedoms, including the rights of free speech and assembly, a free press, freedom of religion, the right to strike and freedom to travel, are ensured by law, and business ownership, private property, the right of inheritance and foreign investment are legally protected.

The Joint Declaration provides that the basic policies of the PRC regarding Hong Kong and the elaboration of these policies in the Joint Declaration will be stipulated by the NPC in the Basic Law. The Basic Law provides that the Chief Executive of the Hong Kong SAR shall be recommended by a committee composed of Hong Kong residents representing a broad spectrum of distinct constituencies, such as industry, labour, and the various professions, and appointed by the Central Government of the PRC. At the end of 1996, Mr Tung Chee Hwa was appointed as to be the Chief Executive of the Hong Kong SAR.

Under the Basic Law, the laws in force in Hong Kong prior to June 30, 1997 remain in force, except for any that are interpreted as contravening the Basic Law, and will be subject to amendment by Hong Kong’s legislature. The power of interpretation of the Basic Law is vested in the Standing Committee of the NPC, although the courts of the Hong Kong SAR may interpret the provisions of the Basic Law in adjudicating cases before them, subject to certain limitations. The power to amend the Basic Law is vested in the NPC. The Basic Law also provides that the Hong Kong dollar will remain the legal tender in the Hong Kong SAR after the transfer of sovereignty and that no exchange control policies shall be applied in the Hong Kong SAR and that the Hong Kong dollar shall remain freely convertible.

Cable & Wireless HKT’s principal properties and operations are, and are likely to remain, in Hong Kong and as such are subject to the laws of the Hong Kong SAR. Neither the Joint Declaration nor the Basic Law makes any specific reference to the regulatory framework applicable to Cable & Wireless HKT after 1997. For further information, readers are directed to the text of the Joint Declaration, which was filed as Exhibit 0.1 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 20‑F for the year ended March 31, 1989 (File No. 1‑10119), and the Basic Law, which was filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 20‑F for the year ended March 31, 1990.

Hong Kong Economic Statistics

Year-on-year Rate of change %


1997
1998
1999


Q1
Q2
Q3
Q4
Q1
Q2
Q3
Q4
Q1













Real gross domestic product
5.7
6.7
6.0
2.8
-2.6
-5.1
-6.8
-5.7
-3.4













Composite Consumer Price Index
6.1
5.7
6.1
5.5
5.0
4.4
2.8
-0.8
-1.8

In August 1999, the Hong Kong SAR Government announced that Hong Kong’s gross domestic product (GDP) for the second quarter of calendar year 1999 was estimated to have grown by 0.5 per cent year-on-year,  reversing the declining trend since the first quarter of calendar year 1998.  The Government’s GDP forecast for the full year was stated as 0.5 per cent.  Consumer prices declined by an average of 4.0 per cent in the second quarter of calendar year 1999.

ITEM 2.

DESCRIPTION OF PROPERTY

The principal plant and equipment of the Company are located in Hong Kong and consist of transmission plant and exchange equipment. Leasehold land and buildings principally consist of local telephone exchanges, which in certain cases include engineering facilities or administrative offices, and two international telecommunications, technical and administration centers. Nearly all of the leases relating to such exchanges and centers are special purpose leases granted by the Hong Kong SAR Government which contain restrictions on their use for other purposes and prohibitions on their transfer. The majority of these leases do not expire before 2025.

The net book value of the Company’s properties as at March 31, 1999, was as follows:



       HK$


__(millions)__

Transmission plant



Local
7,409


International
2,676

Digital Exchange equipment
10,193

Other plant and equipment 
3,573

Leasehold land and buildings 
2,098

Investment properties
1,095

Projects under construction 
 2,426 

Total 
29,470

Cable & Wireless HKT considers that its properties are suitable and adequate for the provision of its range of telecommunications services.

ITEM 3.
LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries is a defendant in any material litigation or arbitration of material importance and no material litigation or claim is known to the Company to be pending or threatened against the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

The Company has initiated legal proceedings against certain operators to recover lost revenue resulting from the activities of those operators who the Company believes were involved in diversion of international telecommunications traffic in breach of its legal rights.  The aggregate amount claimed by the Company in these proceedings is in excess of HK$550 million.

The legal proceedings initiated by the Company involve numerous actions against numerous defendants, in which the Company is claiming amounts which, in most cases, are not material individually.  In some cases, judgement has already been obtained and we are proceeding to enforcement.

Of the various actions that are pending, the following are material:

Plaintiff


Defendant
Date commenced
Court
Description 

of  Proceedings
Relief Sought



Cable & Wireless HKT International
New World Telephone Limited
3 February 1999
High Court of Hong Kong SAR
Improper diversion of delivery fees on inbound international traffic
HK$375 million








Cable & Wireless HKT International
New T&T Hong Kong Limited
3 February 1999
High Court of Hong Kong SAR
Improper diversion of delivery fees on inbound international traffic
HK$157 million

No assurance can be given that all or any of the Company's actions will be successful or that any recovery will be possible.

ITEM 4.

CONTROL OF REGISTRANT
The following table sets forth the share ownership at March 31, 1999 of each person known to Cable & Wireless HKT to own more than ten per cent of its Shares or who is an officer or director of Cable & Wireless HKT:

Name
Shares Owned
Percent Owned







Cable & Wireless
6,445,633,553
53.90

 


China Telecom (Hong Kong) Group Limited
1,548,686,181
13.00








Directors and officers as a group
3,669,010
0.03


It is a condition of the Regulatory Agreement that Cable and Wireless plc and/or a wholly-owned subsidiary of Cable and Wireless plc will retain ultimate beneficial ownership in Shares carrying the right to exercise more than 50 per cent of the votes ordinarily exercisable at general meetings of the Company. See “Regulatory Agreement” on page 19.
ITEM 5.

NATURE OF TRADING MARKET

The principal trading market for the Company’s Shares is the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, where approximately 4,614 million shares were traded in the year ended March 31, 1999. The Shares are also listed on the New York Stock Exchange and Pacific Stock Exchange in the form of ADSs. The board lot for trading in the Shares on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange is 400 Shares. The ADSs have been issued by Citibank, N.A. as Depositary and are listed on the New York Stock Exchange and Pacific Stock Exchange under the symbol HKT.

As of March 31, 1999, a total of 11,958,932,430 Shares were outstanding. Out of this total at the same date, 55,691,673 ADSs (equivalent to 556,916,730  Shares or approximately 4.66 per cent of the total number of Shares outstanding on that date) were outstanding and were held by 2,205 record holders (including nominees).

On the basis of a market capitalization of approximately HK$182,972 million or approximately US$23,458 million at the close of business on March 31, 1999, the Company was the third largest company listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

Set out below is certain market information derived from that provided by the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, the New York Stock Exchange and the Pacific Stock Exchange relating to the Shares and ADSs in respect of the period between April 1, 1997 and March 31, 1999: 



Per Share
Per ADS

Month
Highest price
Lowest price
Highest price
Lowest price


HK$
US$

1997





Apr 1 - Jun 30
19.50
12.70
24.250
16.620

Jul 1 - Sep 30
20.90
14.30
26.180
21.180

Oct 1 - Dec 31
19.15
11.65
23.180
17.250







1998





Jan 1 - Mar 31
17.70
11.80
22.500
16.930

Apr 1 - Jun 30
16.15
13.10
20.875
17.063

Jul 1 - Sep 30
16.35
12.35
20.500
16.063

Oct 1 - Dec 31
16.60
13.25
21.750
16.938







1999





Jan 1 - Mar 31
15.65
12.15
20.000
15.875

ITEM 6.

EXCHANGE CONTROLS AND OTHER LIMITATIONS AFFECTING SECURITY HOLDERS
General
No foreign exchange controls exist in Hong Kong and there is a free flow of capital into and out of Hong Kong. There are no restrictions on remittances of Hong Kong dollars or any other currency from Hong Kong to persons not resident in Hong Kong for the purpose of paying dividends or otherwise.

Under Hong Kong law, shareholders who are not residents of Hong Kong may hold, vote and transfer their shares in the same manner as Hong Kong residents.

This summary does not purport to be complete and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the Company’s Articles of Association, which were filed as Exhibit 1.1 to the Annual Report on Form 20‑F for the year ended March 31, 1990.

Disclosure of Interests
The Hong Kong Securities (Disclosure of Interests) Ordinance 1988 (Chapter 396 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (“SDI Ordinance”), as amended, came into effect on September 1, 1991. The SDI Ordinance requires any person who has an interest in voting shares of 10 per cent or more of a listed company incorporated in Hong Kong, which includes the Company, to notify the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and the company of that interest and of changes therein. The SDI Ordinance also gives any such listed company power to require any person it knows to be, or has reasonable cause to believe to be, or to have been within the previous three years, interested in its voting shares to disclose prescribed particulars of that interest. In this context, the term “interest” is widely defined and will generally include an interest of any kind in shares or ADSs. Failure to supply the information required may lead to a prohibition on their transfer of the relevant shares.

ADS holders are subject to the provisions of the SDI Ordinance. Under its Deposit Agreement with the Company, the Depositary has agreed to co-operate with the Company with respect to enforcing the provisions of the SDI Ordinance.

Limitation on Shareholdings
The Company’s Articles of Association provide that no person may, without the consent of the Board of Directors, either (i) hold more than 10 per cent of the Shares at any time outstanding which ordinarily carry the right to vote on a poll at general meetings or (ii) exercise (or control the exercise of) more than 10 per cent of the votes ordinarily exercisable on a poll at general meetings. For the purposes of each prohibition, the interests of any person are aggregated with those of his Associates (as defined below).

In respect of any person (the “first named person”) his “Associates” will include: (i) any body corporate (whether incorporated or registered in Hong Kong or elsewhere) over which he and/or his Associates has effective control either by controlling one‑third or more of the votes exercisable at a general meeting, or by having appointed or having the right to appoint one‑half or more of the directors; (ii) any body corporate of which he is a director (or, if the first named person is itself a body corporate, any director of it); (iii) any person who has (whether or not in a legally binding manner) agreed or arranged to act in accordance with the suggestions, instructions or directions of the first named person (or of any other Associate of the first named person) as to exercising or refraining from exercising any rights attached to any voting share, or any power to dispose of or retain any such share or any interest therein (but any person appointed to act as a proxy of the first named person shall not be treated as his Associate by virtue of that appointment solely, nor shall any person be deemed the Associate of another, solely by reason of membership in, or acting in accordance with the recommendation of, an association of insurance or pension corporations or funds (or any other body considered by the directors to act in a similar capacity)); and (iv) where the first named person is a government or a department or agency or body of any government, any other department or agency or body of that government or that government itself or any body corporate which is a trustee of any trust, any or all of the other trustees, or of the settlors or of the beneficiaries (including contingent beneficiaries) under the trust. In addition, any Associate of the first named person shall (unless the directors otherwise determine) be deemed an Associate of all other Associates of the first named person.

The directors are given various powers under the Articles of Association to enforce these provisions, including: the power to refuse to register voting shares in the name of any person (other than in a capitalization of profits or reserves in accordance with the Articles of Association) if it appears to them that the limitations on shareholdings in the Articles of Association may be exceeded; the power to serve notice in writing on any person requiring him to make a declaration as to the total number of voting shares held by him and the votes controlled or exercisable by him and as to whether he is an Associate of another person; the power to disenfranchise any shares held by him until the directors declare themselves satisfied with the content of such declaration; and the power to require the transfer of excess voting shares held by any person and, if necessary, to effect a sale of such shares. The directors are also given power, in their absolute discretion, to give consent to any person exceeding the limitations but, in giving any such consent, the directors shall be entitled to impose any such requirements, conditions, restrictions or limitations (supported, if appropriate, by undertakings) as the directors may think fit.

The foregoing limitations on shareholdings and the exercise of voting rights do not apply to Cable and Wireless plc or CWFE (or any wholly‑owned subsidiary of Cable and Wireless plc or CWFE).

ADS holders are subject to the foregoing limitations on shareholdings and exercise of voting rights, and will be subject to any amendment to such provisions as of the time of any such amendment. The Depositary has agreed in the Deposit Agreement to co-operate with the Company in monitoring and enforcing the foregoing limitations by, among other things, directing a holder to dispose of Shares evidenced by ADSs or, on the Company’s written instructions, selling such Shares on behalf of such holder, in a number sufficient to comply with such limitations.

ITEM 7.

TAXATION

The following summary is based upon tax laws of the United States and Hong Kong as in effect on July 31, 1999, and is subject to any change in United States or Hong Kong law that may come into effect after such date. Holders or prospective purchasers of Shares or ADSs are advised to consult their own tax advisers as to the United States, Hong Kong or other tax consequences of the purchase, ownership and disposition of Shares or ADSs, including, in particular, the effect of any national, state or local tax laws of the jurisdiction or jurisdictions in which they are resident or domiciled.

The summary contains a description of the principal United States federal and Hong Kong tax consequences of the purchase, ownership and disposition of Shares or ADSs by a holder that is a citizen, resident or corporation of the United States or that otherwise will be subject to United States federal income tax on a net income basis in respect of the Shares or ADSs (a “United States holder”), but does not purport to be a comprehensive description of all of the tax considerations that may be relevant to a decision to purchase Shares or ADSs. This summary does not address considerations relevant to all categories of potential purchasers in various jurisdictions, some of whom may be subject to special rules, such as banks, insurance companies, securities dealers, persons that hold shares or ADSs as a position in a “straddle” for tax purposes and persons whose “functional currency” is not the US dollar. In particular, this summary deals only with United States holders that will hold Shares or ADSs as capital assets.

In general, for purposes of the United States Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (the “Code”), beneficial owners of ADSs will be treated as the owners of the underlying Shares represented by those ADSs.

No reciprocal tax treaty exists between Hong Kong and the United States.

Dividends
United States Tax Considerations

The gross amount of any dividends paid with respect to Shares or ADSs to a United States holder may be included in the gross income of such United States holder as ordinary income. This dividend income will not be eligible for the dividends‑received deduction allowed to domestic corporations. Dividends paid in Hong Kong dollars may be included in income in a US dollar amount determined by reference to the spot rate of exchange on the date of receipt by the holder or, in the case of ADSs, by the Depositary regardless of whether the payment is in fact converted into US dollars. Distributions to United States holders of additional shares with respect to shares or ADSs that are made as part of a pro rata distribution to all shareholders of the Company generally will not be subject to United States federal income tax.

Hong Kong Tax Considerations
No tax is payable in Hong Kong by withholding or otherwise in respect of dividends of the Company, except that Hong Kong profits tax may be chargeable in respect of dividends payable to certain persons carrying on a trade, profession or business of trading in securities in Hong Kong.

Capital Gains

United States Tax Considerations
Gain or loss realised by a United States holder of Shares or ADSs on the sale or other disposition of Shares or ADSs generally will be subject to United States federal income taxation as capital gain or loss. Deposits of Shares by United States holders in exchange for ADSs and withdrawals by United States holders of Shares in exchange for ADSs will not result in the realization of gain or loss for United States federal income tax purposes.

Hong Kong Tax Considerations

No tax is payable in Hong Kong in respect of any capital gains arising on the sale of Shares or ADSs, except that Hong Kong profits tax may arise in the case of certain persons carrying on a trade, profession or business of trading in securities in Hong Kong.

Stamp Duty

The Shares constitute Hong Kong stock for the purposes of Hong Kong stamp duty. For such purposes any person who effects a sale or purchase of Shares, whether as principal or as agent, is required to execute a contract note evidencing such sale or purchase and to have that note stamped. Contract notes attract stamp duty at the rate of HK$2.50 per HK$1,000 or part thereof (of which HK$1.25 per HK$1,000 is payable by the seller and HK$1.25 per HK$1,000 is payable by the purchaser) by reference to the value of the consideration or market value, whichever is greater. If, in the case of a sale or purchase of Shares by a person who is not resident in Hong Kong, the stamp duty on either or both of the contract notes is not paid, the transferee will be liable to pay stamp duty on the instrument of transfer in an amount equal to the unpaid duty. In addition, if the stamp duty is not paid on or before the due date, a penalty of up to 10 times the duty payable may be imposed.

Upon the exchange of any ADSs for certificates representing Shares or vice versa, stamp duty at the rate of HK$2.50 per HK$1,000 or part thereof is payable by the holder surrendering the ADSs or Share certificates, as the case may be. Transfers of ADSs in jurisdictions outside of Hong Kong are not subject to Hong Kong stamp duty.

Estate Duty
The Shares are Hong Kong property for the purposes of the Estate Duty Ordinance (Chapter 111 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and accordingly Hong Kong estate duty may be payable in respect thereof on the death of the owner of such Shares. ADSs that are not physically located in Hong Kong are not, according to existing practice, regarded as Hong Kong property for such purposes and on that basis no Hong Kong estate duty is payable in respect of such ADSs. However, holders or purchasers of ADSs are advised to consult their professional advisers with respect to their individual circumstances.

ITEM 8.

SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA
The selected consolidated financial data set out on the following pages have been derived from the audited Consolidated Financial Statements of Cable & Wireless HKT. The selected consolidated financial data should be read in conjunction with, and are qualified in their entirety by reference to, Cable & Wireless HKT’s Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes thereto included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 20‑F. Cable & Wireless HKT’s Consolidated Financial Statements are prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“HK GAAP”) which differ in certain significant respects from United States Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“US GAAP”). For a discussion of the significant differences between HK GAAP and US GAAP, see Note 29 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.


Year ended March 31,


1995
1996
1997
1998
1999
1999

PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT DATA
HK$
HK$
HK$
HK$
HK$
US$









Amounts in accordance with HK GAAP:
(amounts in millions, except per share data)




Turnover
26,910 
29,405 
32,578
35,041
32,411
4,155

Operating Costs
17,148 
18,313 
20,375
21,790
20,573
2,637

Operating Profit
9,762 
11,092 
12,203
13,251
11,838
1,518

Exceptional items 

-
-
-
4,558
-
-

Profit on Ordinary Activities Before Net Interest and Other Income
9,762
11,092
12,203
17,809
11,838
1,518

Net Interest and Other Income
276 
386 
706
1,064
1,304
167

Profit Before Taxation
10,038 
11,478 
12,909
18,873
13,142
1,685

Taxation
1,339 
1,515 
1,690
1,808
1,599
205

Profit After Taxation
8,699 
9,963 
11,219
17,065
11,543
1,480

Minority Interests
- 
24 
41
37
36
5

Profit Attributable to Shareholders
8,699 
9,939 
11,178
17,028
11,507
1,475

Earnings per Share 
 
- Basic
0.780
0.888
0.972
1.438
0.964
0.124



- Diluted
0.780
0.888
0.972
1.438
0.964
0.124

Dividends per Share
0.593
0.678
0.763
0.852
0.852
0.109

Dividends per ADS 

5.93
6.78
7.63
8.52
8.52
1.09









Amounts in accordance with US GAAP:







Operating Profit (net operating income)
9,916 
11,000 
12,132
13,133
11,153
1,431

Income Before Taxation
10,192 
11,386 
12,838
18,755
12,457
1,598

Profit Attributable to Shareholders

(net income)
8,569 
9,513 
10,853
16,646
11,137
1,428

Earnings per Share 2
- Basic
0.768
0.850
0.944
1.406
0.934
0.120




- Diluted
0.768
0.850
0.944
1.406
0.934
0.120

Earnings per ADS 2 3 - Basic
7.68
8.50
9.44
14.06
9.34
1.20

                                  - Diluted
7.68
8.50
9.44
14.06
9.34
1.20

 March 31, 


1995
1996
1997
1998
1999
1999

BALANCE SHEET DATA
HK$
HK$
HK$
HK$
HK$
US$










(in millions)

Amounts in accordance with HK GAAP:







Assets







Current Assets
7,745 
11,833 
19,689
23,680
22,274
2,856

Total Assets
29,906 
36,555 
47,665
54,178
53,974
6,920

  







Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity







Current Liabilities
11,437 
13,667 
16,588
16,387
14,973
1,920

Long Term Debt
40 
- 
-
-
-
-

Deferred Taxes
710
709
716
739
858
110

Total Liabilities
12,187 
14,376 
17,304
17,126
15,831
2,030

Minority Interests
1 
32 
73
105
127
16

Total Shareholders’ Equity
17,718 
22,147 
30,288
36,947
38,016
4,874

Total Liabilities and 







 Shareholders’ Equity
29,906 
36,555 
47,665
54,178
53,974
6,920









Amount in accordance with US GAAP:







Total Shareholders’ Equity
19,527 
24,089 
31,902
42,701
44,422
5,695

The table below sets forth the amounts of interim, final and total dividends payable in respect of fiscal years 1997, 1998 and 1999, stated in Hong Kong dollars per Share. These figures have been translated into US dollars per ADS at the Noon Buying Rate on each respective dividend payment date. The US Dollars per ADS are computed on the basis of one ADS representing 10 Shares.

Year ended

Hong Kong Dollar

US Dollars

March 31,

Per Share

Per ADS


Interim

Final

Total
Interim

Final

Total















1997..........

0.346

0.417

0.763

0.447

0.539

0.986

1998..........

0.386

0.466

0.852

0.498

0.601

1.099

1999..........

0.386

0.466

0.852

0.498

0.601

1.099

The current dividend policy of Cable & Wireless HKT is to pay, in respect of each fiscal year ended March 31, an interim dividend in December/January and a final dividend in July of the following fiscal year.
ITEM 9.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION

AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
During the financial year ended March 31, 1999 Cable & Wireless HKT continued to redirect its business investments and operations in recognition of global developments in liberalization, rapidly changing technology and an increasingly competitive market. In anticipation of the significant changes in the operating environment, we rapidly progressed with our development plans focused on rebalancing to reduce reliance on international telephone services, growth through investments in value-added services, data, Internet and interactive multimedia services and efficiency to maintain competitiveness. To better reflect the significant changes in our markets and to provide greater transparency to the development of the business, turnover and operating profit have been reclassified into five new categories: international telecommunications services, local telecommunications services, mobile services, Internet and interactive multimedia services, and technical and other services.

Cable & Wireless HKT recorded a 7.5 per cent decline in total turnover for the year ended March 31, 1999, against growth of 7.6 per cent and 10.8 per cent in 1998 and 1997, respectively.  This decline reflected the impact of the economic downturn in Hong Kong and Asia and intense price competition, particularly in international telephone (IDD) and mobile services. Excluding turnover from IDD, our turnover grew by 5.3 per cent in the year ended March 31, 1999. Our non-IDD services now represent some 60 per cent of our total turnover.

Our efficiency programs yielded further benefit during the year through cost reductions and productivity improvements. Overall operating costs fell 5.6 per cent in the year ended March 31, 1999 compared to an increase of 6.9 per cent in 1998 and an increase of 11.3 per cent in 1997.

Our EBITDA (Earnings Before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortization) margin increased to 45.7 per cent in 1999 from 44.8 per cent and 44.2 per cent in 1998 and 1997, respectively, while operating margin narrowed slightly to 36.5 per cent in 1999 against 37.8 per cent and 37.5 per cent in 1998 and 1997 respectively.

The following table sets out turnover and operating profit by category of activity for each of the years ended March 31, 1997, 1998 and 1999: 


Year ended March 31,







(HK$ Millions)

Turnover
1997
1998
1999

International telecommunications services
19,144
18,910
15,564

Local telecommunications services
7,977
8,886
9,401

Mobile services
4,602
5,996
5,824

Internet and interactive multimedia services
67
255
626

Technical and other services        
788
994
996

Total Turnover
32,578
35,041
32,411






Operating profit




International telecommunications services 
7,852
7,987
6,759

Local telecommunications services
1,959
2,777
4,476

Mobile services
2,101
2,333
1,808

Internet and interactive multimedia services 
(68)
(182)
(1,543)

Technical and other services        
359
336
338






Total Operating profit
12,203
13,251
11,838

Operating profit declined 11 per cent in the year ended March 31, 1999 compared to an increase of 8 per cent in the year ended March 31, 1998.

International Telecommunications Services
Turnover for this category is derived from international telephone and data services as well as international leased circuits and managed network services. Turnover for the year ended March 31, 1999 fell 17.7 per cent compared to a 1.2 per cent decline in 1998.

The most significant change during the year was the introduction of competition through International Simple Resale (ISR) on January 1, 1999. ISR enables our competitors to by-pass the international accounting rate system for certain routes and deliver traffic through international circuit capacity leased from us. The majority of competitors’ non-China traffic is now carried through leased circuits under ISR, and callback services have essentially been discontinued.   We anticipated the erosion of profitability from international services in our negotiations with the Hong Kong SAR Government for the early surrender of our exclusive international franchise in return for a package of compensation (see “Surrender of Cable & Wireless HKT’s Exclusive International License” on page 14). 

Turnover from IDD services fell 22 per cent year-on-year.  This decline resulted primarily from lower volumes of international traffic delivered over our switched network, lower retail tariffs for outgoing IDD traffic and lower inpayments from foreign carriers for the termination of incoming traffic due to lower accounting rates.  Our switched international traffic volumes fell 8.8 per cent year-on-year.  The overall market for international traffic declined throughout 1998 primarily due to the economic downturn. Outgoing traffic fell 2.1 per cent year-on-year and incoming traffic declined 14.3 per cent, impacted by competitors moving their traffic to ISR circuits from January 1, 1999. Both-way traffic with China remained steady in the year ended March 31, 1999 while the traffic with rest of the world declined 16.9 per cent. With the cessation of callback activities following the introduction of ISR, the ratio of incoming to outgoing traffic with rest of the world has now returned to a balanced level. 

The introduction of ISR led to significant price reductions in the market and this stimulated growth in IDD traffic for the total market during the first three months of 1999, although absolute margins for such traffic were lower during this period.

We reduced our international call rates in the last quarter in response to an increasingly price-competitive market.  However, our competitive response to the new IDD market had been constrained by regulations associated with our ‘dominant operator’ status as determined by the Telecommunications Authority.  Consequently, our early strategy following the introduction of ISR was to differentiate our services through a focus on service quality and branding, supported by call plans and special offer rates.  In August 1999, we were classified as non-dominant in the provision of IDD services on certain non-China routes and this affords Cable & Wireless HKT significant greater pricing flexibility and the ability to better tailor services to customers’ needs.

Turnover from international leased circuits increased 18.3 per cent year-on-year, driven by strong demand for Internet, data and voice ISR services.  Our international leased circuit capacity increased 86 per cent in the period.

In preparation for the introduction of ISR and in order to maintain our cost-competitiveness as a leading telecommunications hub in Asia, our international delivery costs were reduced substantially by negotiating significantly reduced accounting rates with overseas correspondent carriers. This gives us a highly competitive cost base as a wholesale carrier of international voice, data and Internet traffic. In the year ended March 31, 1999, a decline in turnover from IDD of 22 per cent was partially offset by a 24 per cent reduction in related costs. However, the combined impact of the economic downturn and severe price competition in the IDD market resulted in a 15.4 per cent contraction of the operating profit of our international telecommunications business overall.  It is expected that continued price competition for IDD services and the introduction of facilities-based competition from January 1, 2000 will put further pressure on turnover and margins for our international telecommunications business during the fiscal year ending March 31, 2000.

Local Telecommunications Services

Turnover from local telecommunications services includes turnover from local telephone and value-added services, data and network services and non-mobile equipment sales and rental. Local telecommunications services turnover grew 5.8 per cent and 11 per cent in the years ended March 31, 1999 and 1998 respectively and its percentage contribution to our total turnover increased from 25.4 per cent in the year ended March 31, 1998 to 29 per cent in 1999.

The operating profit of local telecommunications services improved during the year ended March 31, 1999 due to increased sales of network interconnection services and increased sales of value-added services and computer products. The savings in depreciation charges as a result of the write-down of the net book values of certain local assets in the year ended March 31, 1998 also contributed to an improved profit margin for the 1999 fiscal year. 
The economic downturn in Hong Kong reduced the overall growth of local line connections during the financial year ended March 31, 1999. The number of business lines contracted by 1 per cent during the year, but this was offset by 2 per cent growth in residential lines, for an overall line growth of 1 per cent.  At March 31, 1999, the total numbers of business lines and residential lines in services were 1.5 million and 2.2 million respectively.

Our new range of value-added local line services has proven very popular with customers and this is driving increased turnover per line. For example, the customer base of HomeSelect services increased by 138 per cent year-on-year to 259,000 customers and that of Caller Display services grew by 60 per cent year-on-year to 394,000 customers at March 31, 1999.

We are servicing a growing proportion of corporate customers with total Internet-based solutions and have established market leadership in Hong Kong for the provision of local and international Internet backbone services to other Internet service providers. A competitive service underpinned by high quality, managed end-to-end links to businesses and other telecommunications service providers helped to increase turnover from local data and network services by 11 per cent for the year ended March 31, 1999.

Local equipment sales were up 30 per cent during the year, principally driven by sales of computer and network products packaged with Internet access services and managed network solutions.

The significant changes in the international market mean that we can no longer provide local access services at below cost, in particular local residential exchange lines. The Framework Agreement with the Hong Kong SAR Government includes the right for Cable & Wireless HKT to raise the monthly tariff for residential exchange lines from HK$68.90 to HK$110 over a three-year period commencing from January 1, 1999. However, recognizing the difficult economic conditions in Hong Kong, we delayed implementation of the first increase to HK$90 per month from January 1999 until September 1999 and we announced that we would not implement the second increase to HK$100 before September 2000. 

In early May 1999, the Hong Kong SAR Government concluded its Review of Fixed Telecommunications. The Government announced that no further local fixed-line licenses would be issued before January 1, 2003, so long as satisfactory investment commitments were received by June 30, 1999 from the other three existing licensees. In addition, the local pay-television operator will be allowed to provide telecommunications services over its network and applications will be invited for non-wireline based local networks within 1999.

Mobile Services
This category includes turnover from mobile operational services and handset sales.

Turnover from this category declined 2.9 per cent in the year ended March 31, 1999 following an increase of 28.7 per cent in the year ended March 31, 1998.  Mobile services turnover contributed 18 per cent of our total turnover, slightly up from 17.1 per cent in 1998.

Significant price competition has stimulated growth in the overall market and mobile penetration has risen to some 48 per cent of the population. In addition, the number of customers switching networks has increased, particularly since the introduction of mobile number portability from March 1, 1999. Overall operating margins from our mobile services have reduced due to lower average turnover resulting from reduced tariffs and higher costs of sales through increased marketing programs and higher handset subsidies.

We have focused on retention and growth in our customer base through provision of loyalty packages and innovative value-added services. This approach has supported strong gross connections and contained customer churn at an average of 3 per cent per month for the last fiscal year, one of the lowest levels in the market. Our customer base grew to 948,000 at March 31, 1999, up 10 per cent year-on-year. 

While mobile handset sales volumes were strong throughout the fiscal year, mobile equipment sales turnover fell by some 40 per cent. Average selling prices were lower by some 60 per cent due to a higher proportion of lower-priced models sold and the increased subsidies on handset prices offered as part of our marketing programs to attract and retain customers.   Our policy is to amortize the handset subsidy and sales costs over the shorter of the average subscription lives of the customers or two years.  Regular reviews are conducted to ensure that such deferred values are appropriate in light of any increases in customer churn.
Internet and Interactive Multimedia Services
This category includes turnover from subscription and usage charges for our Internet access and interactive television services and associated advertising and transaction turnover.  Turnover grew 280.6 per cent and 145.8 per cent for the years ended March 31, 1998 and 1999 respectively. The increase in operating loss for this line of business in 1999 was due to a full year’s impact of our interactive television (iTV) services which commenced operation in March 1998.

Hong Kong’s Internet market has grown strongly during the year. Cable & Wireless HKT has expanded its lead in the dial-up market by acquiring the business of the second-placed operator, Hong Kong Star Internet, which added some 80,000 customers in December 1998. Combined with 46 per cent growth in NETVIGATOR dial-up customers and the connection of some 11,000 broadband Internet customers during the year, the customer base has risen to some 322,000. Dial-up customers spent almost 55 million hours on-line during the year, up 147 per cent from 1998 and representing some 57 per cent of total dial-up Internet traffic in Hong Kong.

Cable & Wireless HKT has expanded into the Asia region, acquiring 85 per cent of FIC Network Service, an Internet service provider in Taiwan, in March 1999 with some 42,000 dial-up customers and a number of valuable corporate customers.

Our world-leading interactive television services (iTV) were launched commercially in March 1998 and we now have some 88,000 customers. During the year, the iTV services have been further enhanced with new content and applications. We experienced some initial problems with the services that led to high customer churn. However, these issues were resolved quickly and the introduction of revised pricing packages and promotional activities has been successful in reducing customer churn and improving the average turnover per customer.
Technical and Other Services
This category includes turnover derived from our non-telecommunications services.

Cable & Wireless HKT has continued to provide technical services to the Hong Kong SAR Government, grown turnover from investment properties and commenced operation of a new regional call center business. The total turnover for 1999 was maintained broadly at the same level as 1998 although the mix has changed. The decline in directory advertising turnover in 1999, principally due to the economic downturn, was offset by increase in turnover generated from leasing out more investment properties. 

Operating Costs
Building a competitive cost base remains a critical program. Overall operating costs were reduced by 5.6 per cent in the year ended March 31, 1999 compared to an increase of 6.9 per cent in 1998.

With lower international traffic volumes, substantially reduced accounting rates, together with changes to the structure of delivery fees, payments made to other telecommunications operators were reduced by 24 per cent in the year ended March 31, 1999 following a reduction of 3 per cent in 1998. In addition, Cable & Wireless HKT is no longer required to make royalty payments to the Hong Kong SAR Government based on turnover from international telephone services.

The total number of employees at March 31, 1999 was 13,643, some 9 per cent lower than at March 31, 1996.  Staff numbers in the core business have been reduced through productivity programs.  Increases in staff have been driven by growth in the new areas of the business such as Internet and Interactive Multimedia Services and our call center business. Growth in staff costs was contained at 2 per cent in the year ended March 31, 1999 compared to an increase of 2.8 per cent in 1998. The total amount of HK$4,113 million for 1999 includes HK$114 million relating to redundancy costs incurred during the period. Performance-related pay has been applied across the entire organization and in January 1999 a share option scheme was introduced which will enable all employees to become shareholders in the Company in December 2001.

Depreciation charges rose by 21.3 per cent in the year ended March 31, 1999 compared to an increase of 12 per cent in the prior year.  The increase is primarily a result of investments made to enhance our mobile networks, the acquisition of Pacific Link Communications Limited in January 1998, the roll-out of the broadband network and commencement of operations for iTV in March 1998.

Costs of sales and services increased by 8.2 per cent in the year ended March 31, 1999 compared to a 42 per cent increase for the prior period.  The increase in 1999 was due to higher sales of mobile handset and the inclusion of costs relating to the new arrangement that commenced during the year for the provision of telecommunications services to global customers through Cable & Wireless Global Markets (CWGM). Management fees payable to Cable and Wireless plc were lower this year as a result of the CWGM arrangement.

Rent, rates and utilities increased by 25 per cent during the year ended March 31, 1999, mainly due to the increase in mobile cell sites. This compares with a 41 per cent increase in the prior year.

Other operating costs rose 11 per cent for the year ended March 31, 1999 and accounted for 8 per cent of total turnover. This compares with an 11 per cent increase for the prior year when such costs represented 7 per cent of total turnover.  The increase in 1999 was mainly due to the increased scale of our mobile network and operations, and the start up of iTV service.

Exceptional Items

The exceptional item for the year ended March 31, 1998 arose as a result of the Framework Agreement signed with the Hong Kong SAR Government in January 1998 for the surrender of Cable & Wireless HKT’s exclusive international license in exchange for a package of compensation including HK$6,700 million cash tax-free. During that year, fixed asset values amounting to HK$2,002 million, primarily consisting of outdated system software and analog network equipment, were written off.
Capital Expenditures
The following table summarizes Cable & Wireless HKT’s capital expenditure for each year of the three-year period ended March 31, 1999.


Year ended March 31,


1997
1998
1999


(HK$ million)






Leasehold land and buildings
   163
   199
     33

Exchange equipment
 1,856
 1,845
  2,282

International transmission plant
   555
   420
    444

Local transmission plant
 1,366
 2,051
  1,257

Other plant and equipment
 1,086
 1,260
    887







5,026
5,775
4,903

Capital expenditure for the year ended March 31, 1999 amounted to HK$4,903 million, consisting principally of investments in the local and international networks to meet increased demand, expansion of the mobile networks, roll-out of the broadband network, and enhancements to the iTV services and set-top boxes to support iTV customer growth. Capital expenditure for the year ending March 31, 2000 is forecast to be around HK$5,000 million to support the launch of new high-speed interactive multimedia and e-commerce applications over the broadband network platform.

Taxation
The statutory profits tax rates applicable to companies in Hong Kong during the each of the three years ended March 31, 1999 was 16.5 per cent, 16.5 per cent and 16 per cent respectively. The rate of initial capital allowances (which are in the nature of accelerated depreciation allowances) for qualifying plant and equipment was 60 per cent over the period. For the year ended March 31, 1999, full deduction of capital expenditure was allowed for certain prescribed fixed assets.

Over the period, profits taxes paid by Cable & Wireless HKT have been reduced by the rates of depreciation allowable for tax purposes in comparison with accounting purposes and the availability of capital allowances on certain capital expenditure. For the year ended March 31, 1999, the net tax charge was further reduced by a tax rebate of 10 per cent of the tax paid for the year 1997/98. Our effective tax rates during each of the three years ended March 31, 1999 were 13.1 per cent, 9.6 per cent (12.6 per cent before exceptional items) and 12.2 per cent respectively.

Profit attributable to shareholders
Profit attributable to shareholders before exceptional items was maintained at approximately 36 per cent of total operating turnover for the two years ended March 31, 1999 (49 per cent after exceptional items for the year ended March 31, 1998) compared to the 34 per cent for the year ended March 31, 1997.

Exchange Rates
During the last three years our results have not been affected to any significant extent by fluctuations in exchange rates.  See also “Exchange Rates” on page i and “Item 9A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures of Market Risk” on page 42.
Liquidity and Borrowings
At March 31, 1999, we had cash, bank deposits and short-term interest bearing notes of HK$17,240 million. Of this amount, the equivalent of HK$7,600 million was denominated in US Dollar deposits, recognizing future investments in Greater China and the Asia Pacific region would likely be denominated in this currency.

The overall cash balance increased during the year with the receipt on June 30, 1998 of the second and final payment from the Hong Kong SAR Government in respect of the Framework Agreement. Outstanding borrowings were HK$2,088 million.

Our principal financial objective is to maximize long term cashflows to increase the total returns to shareholders.

The investment of our surplus cash is managed on a conservative basis. Investment of surplus funds is restricted to institutions with a high credit rating and funds are invested a maximum duration of one year to maintain an optimal level of liquidity.

In addition to our strong cash position, we have in place committed funding lines of HK$4,000 million and uncommitted lines of HK$6,710 million to provide on-call capability to meet future capital expenditure and investment programs. We have utilized HK$2,021 million of these facilities as at March 31, 1999. The established funding facilities more than meet with the near term requirements.  With a strong balance sheet, we are extremely well placed to access capital markets should there be substantial funding requirements in future.

We continue to review our capital structure taking into account new investment opportunities, long and short term funding requirements, and known contingency needs.  This is with a view to achieving capital efficiency and maximizing shareholder value.  We are aware of the necessity to utilize our surplus cash in a prudent and timely manner to meet shareholders’ expectations.  We are actively reviewing investment opportunities where we believe our telecommunications experience and resources can enhance shareholder value. 

Hedging
Treasury risk arises from foreign currency transactions and interest rate risk from cash investments and borrowings.  Cable & Wireless HKT’s treasury risk management activities are carried out in accordance with Board approved policies and authorities.  Treasury procedures and guidelines are reviewed on a regular basis. As a matter of policy, we continue to manage currency or interest rate risks associated with the transactions directly related to our operations.

In the normal course of business, we enter into a variety of forward contracts in order to limit our exposure to adverse fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates. These instruments are executed with creditworthy financial institutions, and all foreign currency contracts are denominated in currencies of major industrial countries. Gains and losses on these contracts serve as hedges in that they offset fluctuations that would otherwise impact our financial results. Costs associated with entering into such contracts are not material to our financial results.  See also “Item 9A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure of Market Risk” on page 42.

Inflation
The annual inflation rate in Hong Kong was approximately 6.0 per cent, 5.7 per cent and 2.6 per cent for the calendar years 1996, 1997 and 1998, respectively. We do not consider that inflation in Hong Kong has had a material impact on our results of operations in recent years.

Outlook
Hong Kong’s economy remains comparatively weak.  In addition, price competition in both international and mobile services is very aggressive.  From January 1, 2000, full international facilities competition will be introduced. Hong Kong has become one of the most liberalized telecommunications markets in the world and Cable & Wireless HKT faces competition from both local and global operators. The combination of all these factors is likely to  present further significant challenges for Cable & Wireless HKT and the trends apparent in the final six months of the year ended March 31, 1999 are expected to continue during the year ending March 31, 2000.

Differences Between Hong Kong and United States GAAP
The financial statements of Cable & Wireless HKT have been prepared in accordance with HK GAAP, which differ in certain significant respects from US GAAP. Net income on a US GAAP basis was HK$325 million, HK$382 million and HK$370 million less than net income under HK GAAP for the years ended March 31, 1997, 1998 and 1999 respectively. These differences relate to the different accounting treatment accorded to deferred income taxes, retirement scheme costs, depreciation on investment properties, treatment of mobile acquisition costs and amortization of goodwill on acquisition under HK GAAP and US GAAP.

Shareholders’ equity under US GAAP was approximately HK$31,900 million, HK$42,700 million and HK$44,400 million at March 31, 1997, 1998 and 1999, respectively, or approximately HK$1,600 million, HK$5,750 million and HK$6,400 million, respectively, more than shareholders’ equity under HK GAAP. The reasons for these differences relate to the different accounting treatment of deferred income taxes, proposed dividends, retirement scheme costs, property revaluation reserve, accumulated depreciation on investment property, treatment of mobile acquisition costs and goodwill on acquisition of subsidiaries under HK GAAP and US GAAP.

For a further discussion of differences between US GAAP and HK GAAP, see Note 30 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Year 2000 Readiness Disclosure
Overview

The ‘Millennium Problem’ arises because many information technology (IT) systems have been designed to allocate only two digits for the year part of dates incorporated in code (for example, “99” for 1999).  Many systems will therefore represent the year 2000 as “00” and because this cannot be distinguished from 1900, processing problems and even complete system failures could occur.  The problem is not limited to computer systems but extends to networks, security systems and any applications or hardware reliant on embedded chip technology.  Systems that do not properly recognize such information could generate erroneous data or fail. Uncertainty exists in the telecommunications industry concerning the potential effects associated with the Millennium Problem.

To minimize the risks associated with the millennium date change, the Cable & Wireless Millennium Programme was established by the Cable & Wireless Group in June 1996. The program includes inventory, assessment, suppliers’ compliance, conversion, testing and contingency planning.  Senior members of staff who are directly accountable to the Cable & Wireless Group Management Board are leading the program.  Cable & Wireless Group Internal Audit Services and the Cable & Wireless HKT Risk Management unit perform regular audits and regular updates are given to the Audit Committee of our Board of Directors.   Executive management closely supervises the program through regular reviews, monthly reporting and active involvement in the resolution of issues and mitigation of risks.

The program consists of a centralized Group Programme Management Team, who drive the program, reporting on risks and issues, and an associated Core Team (whose technical expertise covers such areas as Supplier Management, IT, Networks/Interconnects, Legal, Audit, HR, Equipment/Facilities and Property) that provides knowledge and expertise to all companies in the Cable & Wireless Group.  This structure is mirrored at each individual business unit to ensure consistency of program delivery.   Cable & Wireless HKT actively participates in the Cable & Wireless Group program.

Readiness Status

To date, the business unit program teams have completed a detailed inventory, assessed component types, reviewed suppliers’ compliance, and have completed, in all material respects, remedial actions on all identified components.  Throughout their work, the businesses have focused on communication, legal compliance, audit review and license obligations and continue to monitor both supplier and interconnect readiness to ensure that each aspect of our global operations potentially affected by the millennium date change is addressed and a program of corrective measures is implemented and thoroughly tested.  

The Cable & Wireless Millennium Programme

The extent of the global inventory of the Cable & Wireless Group is in excess of 30,000 unique component types that had to be reviewed for compliance.  Detailed global guidelines were developed and used in all businesses, including Cable & Wireless HKT, to address the millennium issues, ensuring consistency of approach and sharing of best practice throughout the Cable & Wireless Group. Tool kits for Millennium Contingency Planning and Communications have also been developed and implemented in all businesses.  Local, regional and global workshops have been held in which program details have been shared, issues discussed and concepts materialized.  

The Cable & Wireless Group is working closely with other key network operators and third party service providers.  Active involvement in the International Telecommunications Union Year 2000 Task Force has allowed the Cable & Wireless Group to share Millennium Programme information with other operators, regulators and governments.  The ITU Year 2000 Task Force was established to raise millennium awareness, facilitate the exchange of information and organize inter-carrier testing.  It has also established a sub-group to co-ordinate an early warning system for the worldwide telecommunications sector as a whole.   

Cable & Wireless Group businesses have been active in inter-carrier testing on a local, in country and international basis in which no negative, date related issues have yet to be reported.

In addition to the successful inter-carrier testing, no Cable & Wireless Group business, including Cable & Wireless HKT, experienced any adverse effect due to the critical millennium date identified as 9 September 1999.  

The Cable & Wireless Group has developed a Supplier Commitment Programme to align Year 2000 commitments from suppliers to its program objectives. Its objective is to obtain appropriate assurances of compliance and remedies for equipment and software, either by compliance promises or as contractual terms. The level of assurance or commitment required in each case has been determined by reference to the strategic importance and business criticality of the relevant relationship. Notwithstanding the Cable & Wireless Group’s endeavors, in relying on the assurances obtained from third parties, there is at least some risk to our business that the assurance will not be met.

The Cable & Wireless Group test program has been designed to ensure all systems and components are subjected to a verification regime to reduce or eliminate the risk of failure in the period prior to, during and beyond the Year 2000. The regime has prioritized systems and network testing in order of business criticality, operational sensitivity and Millennium exposure.  All tests conform to British Standards Institute standard PD 2000 – 1.

Cable & Wireless HKT Costs of Millennium Readiness

Cable & Wireless HKT’s costs incurred in modifying the necessary systems for the Year 2000 are expensed as incurred. The costs incurred in acquiring Year 2000 ready equipment and software are capitalized. The total project cost for Cable & Wireless HKT, including the replacement of non-Millennium ready systems, is estimated to be HK$164 million. HK$132 million has already been incurred and the costs to be incurred in the next 12 months are estimated to amount to HK$32 million, of which HK$4 million had been authorized but not yet contracted for as at March 31, 1999. No amounts have been contracted for but not provided in the financial statements as at March 31, 1999.
Most Reasonably Likely Worst Case Scenario

Despite all of the above, Cable & Wireless HKT can provide no absolute assurances that the Millennium Problem will not have a material adverse effect on its business, financial results or operations, including material costs caused by undetected errors or defects in the technology used in its services or systems or those of its suppliers or other carriers.  Known or unknown errors or defects in Cable & Wireless HKT products or services may result in delay or loss of revenue, diversion of technical and development resources, damage to reputation, and/or increased service and warranty costs.

Due to the dependence of Cable & Wireless HKT’s operations on numerous and complex business systems beyond its direct control (including service infrastructure and technology) and the extent of its overseas operations, including operations within countries that are not actively promoting remediation, there is a risk that the Company may experience some disruption in its business due to the Millennium Problem.  

The possible consequences of Cable & Wireless HKT or its key dependencies such as suppliers and interconnects not being fully Millennium ready during the critical time periods associated with the Millennium, may include, among other things:

· temporary network closures,

· delay in the delivery of services,

· invoice and collection errors,

· increased levels of customer enquiries combined with fault reporting, service change requests, and calls from customers requiring reassurance about service continuity.


Mitigating Risk of Failure

Cable & Wireless HKT’s business does not operate in isolation from others and is significantly dependant upon a common infrastructure, utilities and other third parties delivering millennium ready equipment and services.  To address and mitigate these risks, Cable & Wireless HKT is currently testing Millennium contingency/continuity plans.  These plans include short to medium term use of backup equipment, manual workarounds, implementation of additional or alternative telecommunications capacity, increased working hours for staff, agreement for supplier services and crisis management services. The main principles of this planning are threat identification, impact assessment and mitigation, culminating in recovery and communication strategies.

ITEM 9A.

QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES OF MARKET RISK
Interest Rate Sensitivity
The Company has entered into financial and derivative instruments which are sensitive to changes in interest rates.  The Company uses forward rate agreements and interest rate swaps to reduce the potential negative impact of interest rate volatility on its cash deposit yields.  Under these instruments, the Company agrees with other parties to exchange the difference between fixed rate and floating rate amounts calculated by reference to an agreed notional principal amount.   This allows the Company to lock-in interest rates the Company considers favorable for its future cash flow.

The tables below provide information about the Company’s derivative financial instruments and other financial instruments that are sensitive to changes in interest rates. The tables present notional amounts and weighted average interest rates by expected (contractual) maturity dates.  All maturity dates fall within the 12 months ending March 31, 2000.  Notional amounts are used to calculate the contractual payments to be exchanged under the contract. Weighted average variable rates are based on implied forward rates at the year end date. The information is presented in Hong Kong dollar equivalents, which is the Company's reporting currency. The instruments’ actual cash flows are denominated in Hong Kong dollars. 


March 31,


1998
1999




Expected Maturity Date



Total
Fair Value
2000
Fair Value

(amounts in HK$ millions, except interest rate data)
Assets





Term deposits and bank balances:












Fixed Rate (HK$)
14,513
14,513
8,956.0
8,956


Average interest rates
8.18%

6.31%









Fixed Rate (US$)
-
-
7,587
7,587


Average interest rates
-

4.80%









Others
206
206
273
273







Short-term unlisted interest-bearing notes:












Fixed Rate (HK$)
-
-
424
424


Average interest rates
-

8.19%








Liabilities





Short-term borrowings:












Fixed Rate (HK$)
2,790
2,790
2,088
2,088


Average interest rates
5.30%

6.18%



March 31,


1998
1999




Expected Maturity Date



Total
Fair Value
2000
Fair Value

(amounts in HK$ millions, except interest rate data)
Derivatives











Forward rate agreement:





    Receive Fixed to Pay Variable
-
-
4,300 
4

    Average receive rate
-

7.14%


    Average pay rate
-

6.79%








Interest rate swap:





    Receive Fixed to Pay Variable
80 
0 
1,000 
2 

    Average receive rate
8.75%

6.93%


    Average pay rate
5.91%

6.31%








Interest rate cap:





    Notional amount (HK$)
450 
0 
960
1 

    Average contract rate
8.00%

10.63%








Exchange Rate Sensitivity
The Company conducts its business primarily in Hong Kong and, therefore, its cashflows are substantially denominated in Hong Kong dollars.  The Company is exposed to foreign exchange risk related to foreign currency denominated liabilities and anticipated foreign exchange payments.  Based on the Company’s expectation of foreign exchange rate movements it may enter into forward exchange agreements to reduce its exposure to exchange rate fluctuations which may impact these anticipated payments. In structuring its foreign currency transactions, the Company takes into account that, since October 17, 1983, the Hong Kong dollar has been officially linked to the US dollar at the rate of HK$7.80 to US$1.00.  See “Exchange Rates” on page ii.
The table below provides information about the Company’s derivative financial instruments and other financial instruments and presents such information in Hong Kong dollar equivalents. The table summarises information on instruments and transactions that are sensitive to foreign currency exchange rates, including forward exchange agreements.  The table presents the notional amounts and weighted average exchange rates by expected (contractual) maturity dates. These notional amounts generally are used to calculate the contracted payments to be exchanged under the contract. 


March 31,


1998
1999




Expected Maturity Date



Total
Fair Value
2000
Fair Value

(amounts in HK$ millions, except interest rate

and exchange rate data)
Assets





Term deposits and bank balances:






Fixed Rate US$
-
-
7,587.0 
7,587.0 


Average interest rates
-

4.80%



Others
206.0 
206.0 
273.0 
273.0 







Forward Exchange Agreements:






Pay Sterling / Receive US$
73.0
(1.1)
-
-

  
Average contractual exchange rate
1.6385

-









Pay Deutschemarks / Receive US$
108.0
4.7
-
-


Average contractual exchange rate
1.7579

-









Pay Japanese Yen / Receive US$
97
9.3
-
-


Average contractual exchange rate
119.6757

-









Pay French Francs / Receive US$
59
2.5
-
-


Average contractual exchange rate
5.9029

-









Pay HK$ / Receive US$
-
-
1,032 
0


Average contractual exchange rate
-

 7.75 









Pay US$ / Receive Sterling
-
-
22
0

  
Average contractual exchange rate
-

1.6179









Pay US$ / Receive Deutschemarks
-
-
32
(1.0)


Average contractual exchange rate
-

1.7846









Pay US$ / Receive Japanese Yen
-
-
30
(1.0)


Average contractual exchange rate
-

115.00









Pay US$ / Receive French Francs
-
-
17
0


Average contractual exchange rate
-

5.985









Others
-
-
17
0

A discussion of the Group’s accounting policies for derivatives is included in the Statement of Accounting Policies in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.  Further disclosure relating to derivatives and other financial instruments is included in Note 32 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

ITEM 10. 

DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS OF REGISTRANT

Directors and Executive Officers of the Company
The management of the Company is vested in the Board of Directors who determine the overall strategy of the Company. At each annual general meeting of the Company, one‑third (or the number nearest to one‑third) of the directors are required to retire from office by rotation; however, directors holding the offices of Chairman, Chief Executive and Deputy Chief Executive are not subject to retirement by rotation or taken into account in determining the number of directors to retire. The directors to retire by rotation in every year are those who have been longest in office since their last election, but, as between persons who became directors on the same day, those to retire are (unless they otherwise agree among themselves) determined by lot. A retiring director is eligible for re‑election. All directors initially appointed by the Board of Directors hold office only until the next annual general meeting and are eligible for re‑election (but shall not be taken into account in determining the directors who are to retire by rotation at such meeting).

At March 31, 1999, the membership of the board of directors of the Company was as follows:

Name 
Position(s) with Company 
Date of First Appointment

as a Director

Sir Brian Smith
Non-Executive Chairman
November 22, 1995

Dr The Hon. David K.P. Li 

Non-Executive Deputy Chairman
November 30, 1987

Linus W.L. Cheung 

Chief Executive and Director
March 3, 1994

Norman K.T. Yuen 
Deputy Chief Executive and Director
November 4, 1993

Alistair R. Grieve 2
Deputy Chief Executive and Director
November 2, 1995

David N. Prince 2
Deputy Chief Executive and Finance Director
December 31, 1994

Roy A. Wilson
Executive Director
March 6, 1997





The Hon. Sir S.Y. Chung 1
Non-Executive Director
February 8, 1988

Dr Victor K.K. Fung 1
Non-Executive Director
November 5, 1992

Robert E. Lerwill 2
Non-Executive Director
March 6, 1997

Rodney J. Olsen 
Non-Executive Director
November 13, 1987

Li Ping  

Non-Executive Director
October 15, 1997

Sir Ralph H Robins 

Non-Executive Director
July 23, 1998

The Hon. Raymond G.H. Seitz 4
Non-Executive Director
October 15, 1997

Graham R. Wallace 

Non-Executive Director
March 4, 1999

Mr Allen K.S Ma was appointed as an Executive Director of the Company on May 7, 1999.  Mr Ma leads Cable & Wireless HKT’s interactive multimedia businesses.

Directors are not required to hold any qualification shares and there is no provision for retirement of directors at a specified age limit.

The following persons were the executive officers of the Company at March 31, 1999:
William K.H. Cheung
Director, Human Resources

Ross Cormack
Managing Director, Mobile Services

Donald J. Hess
Director of Legal Affairs & Company Secretary

Virginia W.M. Lam
Director of Group Accounting Services & Property

H.K. Siu
Director of Corporate Finance & Treasury

ITEM 11.

COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS

The aggregate amount of emoluments paid or payable to the directors and executive officers of the Company as a group (21 persons) for the year ended March 31, 1999 was HK$57 million (1998 - HK$54 million). In the year ended March 31, 1999, the Company paid HK$2 million (1998 - HK$2 million) to provide pension benefits for the directors and officers.

ITEM 12.

OPTIONS TO PURCHASE SECURITIES FROM REGISTRANT OR SUBSIDIARIES
The following Directors were granted options to acquire Cable & Wireless HKT Shares under the Hongkong Telecom Employee Share Option Scheme, which was adopted by shareholders on January 29, 1999, for a consideration of HK$1 per share exercisable during the period from December 3, 2001 to December 31, 2001. 

Name
Options to Acquire Cable & Wireless HKT Shares

Linus W.L. Cheung
41,490

William K.H. Cheung
15,320

Alistair R. Grieve
22,040

Donald J. Hess
15,610

Virginia W.M. Lam
10,625

Allen K.S. Ma
16,790

David N. Prince
21,575

H.K. Siu
13,680

Roy A. Wilson
16,250

Norman K.T. Yuen
25,100

ITEM 13.

INTEREST OF MANAGEMENT IN CERTAIN TRANSACTIONS

Cable & Wireless HKT is involved to varying degrees in transactions or arrangements with Cable and Wireless plc, the major shareholder of the Company and, in some cases, with the Hong Kong SAR Government and China Telecom. In addition, certain other operations of Cable & Wireless HKT and its wholly-owned subsidiary Cable & Wireless HKT International Limited are governed by the Regulatory Agreement.  See “Legislative and Regulatory Developments” on page 14. Cable and Wireless plc provides certain technical, management and other services for Cable & Wireless HKT  in return for a fee. See “Relationship with Cable and Wireless plc” on page 21.

Certain of the directors of the Company have interests in shares of Cable and Wireless plc or hold options to acquire shares of Cable and Wireless plc under share option schemes operated by Cable and Wireless plc and may also be awarded shares under the Cable & Wireless Long Term Incentive Plan for achievement of defined performance criteria.

PART II
ITEM 14.

DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES TO BE REGISTERED

Not applicable.

PART III
ITEM 15.

DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES
Not applicable.
ITEM 16.

CHANGES IN SECURITIES AND CHANGES IN SECURITY FOR REGISTERED SECURITIES

Not applicable.
PART IV
ITEM 17. 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Not applicable.
ITEM 18.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Reference is made to Item 19 for a list of all financial statements filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 20‑F.

ITEM 19.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Index to Financial Statements and Schedules
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

The Board of Directors and Shareholders

Cable & Wireless HKT Limited (formerly “Hong Kong Telecommunications Limited”)

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Cable & Wireless HKT Limited and subsidiaries as of March 31, 1999 and 1998 and the related consolidated profit and loss accounts and statements of cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended March 31, 1999, all stated in Hong Kong dollars. In connection with our audits of the consolidated financial statements, we have also audited the financial statement schedule for each of the years in the three-year period ended March 31, 1999. These consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in Hong Kong and the United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Cable & Wireless HKT Limited and subsidiaries as of March 31, 1999 and 1998 and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended March 31, 1999 in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in Hong Kong. Also in our opinion, the related financial statement schedule for each of the years in the three-year period ended March 31, 1999, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein.

Generally accepted accounting principles in Hong Kong vary in certain significant respects from generally accepted accounting principles in the United States. Application of generally accepted accounting principles in the United States would have affected results of operations for each of the years in the three-year period ended March 31, 1999 and shareholders' equity as of March 31, 1999 and 1998 to the extent summarized in Note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended March 31, 1999 have been translated into United States dollars solely for the convenience of the reader. We have audited the translation and, in our opinion, the consolidated financial statements expressed in Hong Kong dollars have been translated into United States dollars on the basis set forth in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong

May 7, 1999
CONSOLIDATED PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNTS


Year Ended March 31,



 1997
   1998
 1999
1999



   HK$
    HK$
  HK$
 US$


Notes
(in millions except per Share data)








Turnover

  




International telecommunications services

19,144
18,910
15,564
1,995

Local telecommunications services

7,977
8,886
9,401
1,205

Mobile services

4,602
5,996
5,824
747

Internet and interactive multimedia

 services

67
255
626
80

Technical and other services        

788
994
996
128

Total Turnover

32,578
35,041
32,411
4,155















Operating Costs






Allocations to other telecommunications

 operators

8,644
8,394
6,403
821

Salaries and related costs

3,917
4,025
4,113
527

Depreciation

2,190
2,443
2,964
380

Cost of sales and services

2,126
3,024
3,272
420

Rent, rates and utilities

602
846
1,054
135

Royalty to Hong Kong Government

523
443
-
-

Management fees to Cable and Wireless plc

210
221
112
14

Other operating costs

2,163
2,394
2,655
340

Total Operating Costs

20,375
21,790
20,573
2,637















Operating Profit

12,203
13,251
11,838
1,518

Exceptional Items
  4
-
4,558
-
-

Profit on Ordinary Activities Before

  Net Interest and Other Income

12,203
17,809
11,838
1,518

Net Interest and Other Income
  5
706
1,064
1,304
167








Profit Before Taxation

12,909
18,873
13,142
1,685

Taxation
  6
1,690
1,808
1,599
205








Profit After Taxation

11,219
17,065
11,543
1,480

Minority Interests 

41
37
36
5








Profit Attributable to Shareholders
 18
11,178
17,028
11,507
1,475








Earnings Per Share






Basic
 20
0.972
1.438
0.964
0.124

Diluted
 20
-
-
0.964
0.124

Basic (before exceptional items)
 20
0.972
1.053
0.964
0.124

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS



At March 31,



  1998
   1999
 1999



   HK$
    HK$
  US$


Notes
(in millions)

Assets





Current Assets





Term deposits and bank and cash balances
7
14,719
16,816
2,156

Short-term unlisted interest bearing notes

-
424
54

Accounts receivable, net
8
8,382
4,271
548

Inventories
9
     579
     763
     98

Total Current Assets

23,680
22,274
2,856







Investments
10
721
729
93

Other Non Current Assets
11
1,373
1,501
193

Fixed Assets
12
  28,404
  29,470
  3,778







Total Assets

54,178
53,974
6,920







Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity





Current Liabilities





Short-term borrowings
13
2,790
2,088
268

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
14
6,723
6,004
770

Profits tax payable

550
516
66

Proposed dividends

5,550
5,573
714

Deferred income

     774
     792
    102

Total Current Liabilities

16,387
14,973
1,920







Deferred Taxes
15
     739
     858
    110







Total Liabilities

17,126
15,831
2,030







Minority Interests

105
127
16







Shareholders’ Equity
18




Shares of HK$0.50 each:





   Authorized 12,500,000,000 Shares;





   Outstanding 11,958,932,430 Shares at





   March 31, 1999 (1998: 11,909,410,718) 

5,955
5,980
767

Share premium

64
38
5

Capital reserves

11
11
1

Investment properties revaluation reserve

1,073
195
25

Retained profit

  29,844
  31,792
  4,076







Total Shareholders' Equity

  36,947
  38,016 
  4,874







Total Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity

54,178
53,974
6,920

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS


           Year ended March 31,



1997
1998
1999
1999



HK$
HK$
HK$
US$


Notes
(in millions)








Net cash inflow from operating activities:
24
13,322
 15,111
15,124
1,939








Returns on investments and servicing of finance






Interest received

624
   987
1,218
156

Interest paid

(259)
  (222)
(196)
(25)

Dividends received from associated companies

14
4
9
1

Dividends paid

(2,988)
(5,855)
(9,433)
(1,209)

Dividends paid to minority interests

-
-
(15)
(2)

Income from investments

    76
    63
62
8

Issue costs of shares in lieu of cash dividends

     -
      -
     (1)  
     -

Net cash outflow from returns on investments






  and servicing of finance

(2,533)
 (5,023)
 (8,356)
(1,071)








Taxation






Profits tax paid

(1,478)
(1,504)
(1,496)
(192)








Investing activities






Purchase of fixed assets

(4,463)
(5,217)
(5,183)
(665)

Proceeds on disposal of fixed assets

385
57
54
7

Proceeds on disposal of investments

39
14
46
6

Purchase of investments

(76)
(113)
(2)
-

Investment in associated companies

(136)
(45)
-
-

Proceeds on disposal of investment in associated company

-
16
-
-

Proceeds on sale of staff housing loans

-
795
-
-

Compensation for surrender of exclusive international license

-
3,350
3,350
429

Purchase of businesses
26
-
(4,769)
(313)
(40)

Purchases of interest bearing notes

-
-
(424)
(54)

(Increase)/decrease in term deposits maturing over three months

(3,917)
(785)
4,336
556

Lease rentals received

    11
     -
     -
     -

Net cash outflow from investing activities

(8,157)
(6,697)
 1,864
   239








Net cash inflow before financing

1,154
1,887
7,136
915








Financing






Repayment of loans

(145)
-
-
-

Minority interests
27
     -
     (5)
    (1)
     -

Net cash outflow from financing

  (145)
     (5)
    (1)
     -








Increase in cash and cash equivalents

1,009
1,882
7,135
915

Cash and cash equivalents at April 1

   303
 1,312
 3,194
   409








Cash and cash equivalents at March 31

1,312
3,194
10,329
1,324








Analysis of the balances of cash and cash equivalents






Term deposits maturing within three months

6,270
5,778
12,144
1,557

Bank and cash balances

266
206
273
35

Bank loans and overdrafts repayable within three months

(5,224)
(2,790)
(2,088)
  (268)



1,312
3,194
10,329
1,324

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

1.
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of consolidated financial statements

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in Hong Kong (HK GAAP), which differ in certain significant respects from generally accepted accounting principles in the United States (US GAAP). See Note 29.


Accounting convention

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Statements of Standard Accounting Practice issued by the Hong Kong Society of Accountants, accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. The financial statements have been prepared in Hong Kong dollars.


Principles of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include financial statements of the Company and all its subsidiaries made up to March 31 each year. The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated profit and loss account from or to the date of their acquisition or disposal, as appropriate. All material intra-group transactions and balances are eliminated on consolidation.


Goodwill arising on the acquisition of subsidiaries, being the excess of the cost over the fair value of the Group’s share of the separable net assets acquired, is charged directly to reserves on consolidation. The excess of the Group’s share of the fair value of the separable net assets of subsidiaries acquired over the cost of investment in these companies is credited to capital reserves.

On disposal of a subsidiary during the year, any attributable amount of purchased goodwill which has previously been dealt with as a movement on Group reserves is included in the calculation of the profit or loss on disposal.

Investment in subsidiaries
A subsidiary is a company in which the Group, directly or indirectly, holds more than half of the issued share capital, or controls more than half of the voting power, or controls the composition of the board of directors.


Investment in associated companies
An associated company is a company in which the Group has a long term equity interest and over which the Group is in a position to exercise significant influence, but not control or joint control, in its management, including participation in commercial and financial policy decisions.


The consolidated profit and loss account includes the Group’s share of the post-acquisition results of its associated companies for the year. In the consolidated balance sheet, investments in associated companies are stated at the Group’s share of their net assets. The goodwill arising on the acquisition of associated companies is charged directly to reserves on consolidation.

 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  --  (Continued)

1.
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies  --  (Continued)


Investment in associated companies -- (continued)

On disposal of an associated company during the year, any attributable amount of purchased goodwill which has previously been dealt with as a movement on Group reserves is included in the calculation of the profit or loss on disposal.


Other investments
Other non-current investments are held for long term purposes and are stated at cost less provision where the Directors consider there has been a permanent diminution in the underlying value of the investment.

Short-term interest bearing notes, which are redeemable at fixed dates and are being held to maturity, are stated at cost.  Any premiums or discounts are amortized over the periods to redemption.
Revenue recognition

Revenues are recognized as they are earned. Telecommunications revenues based on usage of the Group’s network and facilities are recognized when the services are rendered. Telecommunications revenues for services provided for fixed periods are recognized on a straight line basis over the respective periods. Other revenues are recognized when products are delivered or services are rendered to customers.
Revenue from services is accounted for on the accrual basis. At the end of each year adjustments are recorded to defer prepayments with respect to services invoiced in advance and to accrue for unbilled services.


Turnover comprises the value of all services provided and equipment sold to third parties. The Group's turnover is stated on a gross basis, before allocations to other telecommunications operators.


Fixed assets


Investment properties with an unexpired lease term of more than 20 years are stated at the balance sheet date at their open market value. They are valued at intervals of not more than three years by independent professionally qualified valuers and in each intervening year valuations are undertaken by professionally qualified executives of the Group. Surpluses arising on revaluation are credited to the profit and loss account to the extent of any deficit arising on revaluation previously charged to the profit and loss account and are thereafter taken to the investment properties revaluation reserve; deficits arising on revaluation are firstly set off against any previous revaluation surpluses and thereafter charged to the profit and loss account.


Investment properties with an unexpired lease term of 20 years or less are stated at valuation less accumulated depreciation.

 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  --  (Continued)

1.
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies  --  (Continued)
Fixed assets -- (continued)


Projects under construction are stated at cost. Certain costs relating to projects under construction are capitalized and included in the costs of property, plant and equipment; these costs include staff costs, materials, interest and overheads.


Fixed assets other than investment properties and projects under construction are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation.

The carrying amount of fixed assets carried at depreciated cost is reviewed periodically in order to assess whether the recoverable amount has declined below the carrying value. When such a decline has occurred, the carrying amount is reduced to the recoverable amount. The amount of the reduction is recognized as an expense in the profit and loss account. In determining the recoverable amount, expected future cash flows generated by the fixed assets are discounted to their present values.

Upon retirement or disposal of a fixed asset, the difference between the estimated net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset is recognized as income or expense in the profit and loss account on the date of retirement or disposal. On disposal of an investment property, the related portion of surpluses or deficits previously taken to the investment properties revaluation reserve is also transferred to the profit and loss account.


Depreciation

No depreciation is charged on projects under construction or investment properties with an unexpired lease term of more than 20 years. Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of other fixed assets over their estimated useful lives in equal annual installments as follows:

Leasehold land

term of the lease

Investment properties with unexpired

   lease term of less than 20 years

remaining term of lease

Buildings

50 years or term of lease, if less

Exchange equipment

5 to 15 years

International transmission plant

5 to 20 years

Local transmission plant 

6 to 25 years

Other plant and equipment

2 to 16 years

Depreciation of the assets used for the provision of interactive multimedia services (‘IMS’) is partially expensed and partially deferred during the first two years of commercial operation which is the period during which the IMS systems are partially under construction and partially in service. The proportion expensed each month is determined as the ratio of, the higher of actual and forecast monthly number of customers, to the number forecast at the end of the two year period.

Pensions
The regular cost of providing retirement benefits is charged to the profit and loss account over the service lives of the members of the schemes on the basis of constant percentages of pensionable pay. Variations from regular cost arising from periodic actuarial valuations are allocated to the profit and loss account over the expected remaining service lives of the members.

 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  --  (Continued)

1.
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies  --  (Continued)

Inventories

Consumable stores, held for use in the maintenance and expansion of the Group’s telecommunications systems, are stated at cost less provision for deterioration and obsolescence. Trading stocks are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value and are valued on an average cost basis. In both cases, cost comprises materials, freight and insurance. Work in progress is stated at cost, which comprises labor, materials and overheads where appropriate.

Net realizable value is determined by reference to the sales proceeds of items sold in the ordinary course of business subsequent to the balance sheet date or to management estimates based on prevailing market conditions.

Taxation

Profits tax is provided on the estimated assessable income at the tax rate ruling during the year. Deferred taxes are provided at the enacted tax rate using the liability method, to the extent that there is a reasonable probability that the liability will arise in the foreseeable future.


Foreign currencies

Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the rates of exchange ruling on the balance sheet date. Transactions in foreign currencies during the year are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates ruling on the dates of the transactions. All foreign exchange gains and losses are included in the profit and loss account.


Operating leases


Rental income and expenses under operating leases are respectively credited or charged to the profit and loss account on a straight line basis over the lease term.


Finance leases

The total net investment in finance leases included in the balance sheet represents total lease payments receivable net of finance charges relating to future accounting periods. Finance charges are allocated to accounting periods so as to give a constant rate of return on the net cash investment in the lease.


Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are expensed in the profit and loss account in the period in which they are incurred, except to the extent that they are capitalized as being directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of property, plant and equipment which necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale.

 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  --  (Continued)

1.
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies  --  (Continued)

Mobile telephone customer acquisition costs

The direct costs of acquiring new mobile telephone customers, relating primarily to equipment subsidies and connection commissions, are deferred. Deferred customer acquisition costs are amortized on a straight line basis over the shorter of the average subscription lives of the customers or two years.
Programme content costs
The costs associated with the acquisition of movies, video and television programs are deferred and amortized on a straight line basis over the shorter of the estimated period of use or two years. The amortization charge is partially expensed and partially deferred during the first two years of commercial operation of the IMS services in the same manner as described in the note regarding depreciation.
Derivative financial instruments
Gains and losses on forward foreign exchange contracts used to hedge certain existing assets and liabilities are recognized in the profit and loss account contemporaneously with the effects of the hedged transactions. Gains and losses on forward foreign exchange contracts used to hedge certain firm commitments and anticipated transactions are deferred and recognized in the profit and loss account or as adjustments of carrying amounts when the hedged transaction occurs. Amounts deferred have been immaterial for the fiscal years presented. Interest rate swaps are accounted for by the accrual method.


Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Translation of Hong Kong dollar financial statements to United States dollars 

The consolidated financial statements are stated in Hong Kong dollars (HK$), the Group’s reporting currency. The translations of HK$ amounts into US dollar (US$) amounts as of and for the year ended March 31, 1999 are for convenience only and have been made at the rate of HK$7.80 to US$1.00, the approximate rate of exchange at March 31, 1999. Such translations should not be construed as representations that the HK$ amounts could be converted into US$ at that or any other rate.

 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  --  (Continued)

2.
Segmental information
The following information is provided as required by the provision of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 131 “Segment Reporting”. The information is required to be based on the segmental operating results regularly reviewed by the Group’s chief operating decision maker (the CE).

At year ended 1999, the Group adopted SFAS No. 131.  Prior-period amounts have been restated in accordance with the requirements of SFAS No. 131.  The Group’s operating businesses are organised based on the nature of services provided as described below.  Segment accounting policies are the same as policies described in note 1.  All operating revenue is allocated to the Group’s segments  The Group does not allocate assets other than fixed assets to segments.

The Group operates principally in the telecommunications industry providing a wide range of services including international voice and data, fixed local, mobile telephone and Internet and interactive multimedia services. To better reflect the significant changes in its markets, the transformation of its business that the Group has undertaken and to create greater transparency for shareholders, the Group has reclassified its revenue in the year ended March 31, 1999 into five new segments of business function, namely International telecommunications, Local telecommunications, Mobile services, Internet & Interactive Multimedia Services and Technical and Other Services. This division of business functions serves as a means for both the day-to-day managerial and budgetary control purposes and external reporting purposes Transactions between different business functional segments are recorded at arms length and are subject to regulation.

 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  --  (Continued)

2.
Segmental information  --  (Continued)





Internet and






International
Local

Interactive
Technical

Corporate



Telecommunica-
Telecommunica-
Mobile
And Multi-
And other
Total
And



tion services
tion services
Services
Media services
 services
segments
Eliminations
Group   


HK$
HK$
HK$
HK$
HK$
HK$
HK$
    HK$


(in millions)

1999



















Turnover 









 External
15,564
9,401
5,824
626
996
32,411
-
32,411

 Internal
    401
  1,065
    55
   -
   -
 1,521
(1,521)
     -

Total
15,965
10,466
5,879
626
996
33,932
(1,521)
32,411











Depreciation
624
1,711
421
199
9
2,964
-
2,964











Operating

 profit
6,759
4,476
1,808
(1,543)
338
11,838
-
11,838











Fixed assets
4,266
18,197
3,729
1,507
1,771
29,470
-
29,470











1998



















Turnover 









 External
18,910
8,886
5,996
255
994
35,041
-
35,041

 Internal
    496
    233
    50
   -
   -
   779
  (779)
     -

Total
19,406
9,119
6,046
255
994
35,820
(779)
35,041











Depreciation
572
1,571
259
34
7
2,443
-
2,443











Operating

 profit
7,987
2,777
2,333
(182)
336
13,251
-
13,251











Fixed assets
4,205
17,086
3,293
1,329
2,491
28,404
-
28,404











1997



















Turnover 









 External
19,144
7,977
4,602
67
788
32,578
-
32,578

 Internal
    232
     77
    99
   -
   -
   408
  (408)
     -

Total
19,376
8,054
4,701
67
788
32,986
(408)
32,578











Depreciation
507
1,445
223
10
5
2,190
-
2,190











Operating

 profit
7,852
1,959
2,101
(68)
359
12,203
-
12,203











Fixed assets
4,394
17,241
1,626
72
2,072
25,405
-
25,405











 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  --  (Continued)

3.
Operating Costs


Included in operating costs are the following charges:


Year ended March 31,


  1997
1998
1999


   HK$
  HK$
 HK$


(in millions)






Auditors’ remuneration
4
4
4

Directors’ remuneration (Note 23)
32
37
39

Rental expenses under operating leases:




    Land and buildings
196
383
603

    Plant and machinery
169
172
149

4.
Exceptional items

The exceptional items totaling HK$4,558 million recorded in the financial year ended 31 March 1998 arose from:

· the Framework Agreement signed on 20 January 1998 between the Company and the Hong Kong SAR Government for the surrender of the exclusive international license of its wholly owned subsidiary, Cable & Wireless HKT International Limited, in exchange for a package of compensation measures including HK$6,700 million in cash, free of tax. (provision for costs to be incurred as a result of entering into the agreement of HK$140 million were set off against this sum)
· the write down of the carrying value of those assets that had become obsolete, due to regulatory and technological changes, to their estimated recoverable value. Such write down amounted to HK$2,002 million.
5.
Net Interest and Other Income


Year ended March 31,


1997
1998
1999


 HK$
  HK$
 HK$


(in millions)






Interest earned on bank deposits
687
1,052
1,280

Interest received on finance leases
1
-
-






Less: Interest payable on bank overdrafts and




     other loans wholly repayable within 5 years
(69)
(56)
   (44)






Net interest income
619
996
1,236






Other income:




Share of profits of associated companies
11
5
6

Income from unlisted investments
  76
   63
    62


706
1,064
1,304

The Group incurred total interest expenses of HK$203 million during the year (1998: HK$214 million; 1997: HK$234 million) of which HK$159 million was capitalized (1998: HK$158 million; 1997: HK$165 million). Interest expenses have been capitalized in relation to capital projects under construction at rates equivalent to the cost of funds to the Group which varied from 5.8% to 11.4%.

 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  --  (Continued)

6. Taxation


Year ended March 31,


 1997
1998
1999


  HK$
HK$
HK$


(in millions)

Hong Kong profits tax at 16%




  (1998: 16.5%;  1997: 16.5%)




  Current year provision
1,675
1,780
1,610

  Tax rebate
-
-
(120)

  Tax charges from leasing partnerships
    6
    4
   26

  Overprovision in respect of prior years
    -
    -
   (37)


1,681
1,784
1,479

Deferred taxes (Note 15)
    7
    23
119

Share of associated companies’ taxation
    2
    1
     1


1,690
1,808
1,599

The Group's effective profits tax rate varies from the statutory profits tax rate as a result of the following factors:


Year ended March 31,


1997
   1998
  1999


%
      %
     %






Statutory profits tax rate
16.5
16.5
16.0

Timing differences not provided for as




  deferred tax
(2.2)
(2.4)
(2.4)

Exceptional items
-
(4.0)
-

Tax rebate
-
-
(0.9)

Others
 (1.2)
 (0.5)
 (0.5)

Effective tax rate
13.1
9.6
12.2

7.
Term Deposits and Bank and Cash Balances


Term deposits and bank and cash balances comprise the following:


  March 31,


1998
1999


HK$
 HK$


  (in millions)





Cash on hand and in banks
206
273

Short-term bank deposits
  14,513
  16,543 


14,719
16,816

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  --  (Continued)
8.
Accounts Receivable


Accounts receivable comprise the following:


March 31,


 1998
1999


 HK$
HK$


(in millions)





Trade accounts receivable
3,965
2,883 

Less: Allowance for doubtful accounts
   190  
    141  


3,775
2,742





Mobile customer acquisition costs
263
475

Compensation receivable for surrender of exclusive

  international license
3,350
-

Receivables from Cable and Wireless plc Group companies
188
147

Miscellaneous receivables
   806
    907


8,382
4,271

9.
Inventories

Inventories comprise the following:



March 31,


1998
1999


HK$
HK$


(in millions)




Consumable stores
106
61

Trading stocks
298
514

Work in progress
  175
  188


579
763

10.
Investments


Investments comprise the following:


March 31,


1998
1999


 HK$
HK$


(in millions)





Share of net assets of associated companies
214
210

Loan to an associated company
63
119

Other unlisted investments at cost
   444
   400


 721
729

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  --  (Continued)

10.
Investments -- (Continued)


Associated Companies

Name

Issued share

Percentage of


Principal



capital

issued share

activities





capital held







Direct
Indirect












Great Eastern 

43,112,715

49.0


Investment

  Telecommunications

shares of US$1 






  Limited

each















Abacus Distribution

15,600,000


37.0

Provision of a 

  Systems (Hong Kong)

shares of HK$1




computerized airline

  Limited

each




reservations system










Mobile One (Asia) Pte

85,000,100


14.7

Provision of mobile

  Limited

shares of 




telephone services



S$1 each






11.
Other Non Current Assets

Other non current assets comprise the following:


March 31,


1998
1999


HK$
HK$


(in millions)





Mobile customer acquisition costs
114
232

Programme content costs
121
100

Employee housing loans
37
42

Net investment in finance leases
502
497

Miscellaneous receivables
599
630

Net investment in finance leases
1,373
1,501

A company within the Group is a limited partner in a number of limited partnerships which own and lease assets to third parties.  The net investment in these finance leases comprises:




March 31,



1998

1999



HK$

HK$



(in millions)







Total lease payments receivable

502

497

Non-recourse finance of HK$3,176 million (1998: HK$3,183 million) has been offset against net rentals receivable in arriving at the above balances.

 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  --  (Continued)
12.
Fixed assets


Leasehold


International
Local
Other
Projects



land &
Investment
Exchange
transmission
transmission
plant &
under



buildings
properties
equipment
plant
plant
equipment
construction
Total


HK$
HK$
HK$
HK$
HK$
HK$
HK$
HK$


(in millions)

Cost / Valuation 



















At April 1, 1998
2,809  
1,731
12,197
4,946
11,144
7,460
2,409
42,696

Additions
16
-
1,483
8
987
468
1,941
4,903

Acquisition of









  businesses
-
-
-
-
-
73
-
73

Disposals
(3)
-
(9)
(1)
(112)
(50)
-
(175)

Deficit on









  revaluation
-
(878)
-
-
-
-
-
(878)

Transfer of  accumulated depreciation









  on revaluation
-
(21)
-
-
-
-
-
(21)

Transfers
  (200)
   263
 2,340
     2
(1,077)
   596
(1,924)
      -











At March 31, 1999
 2,622
 1,095
16,011
 4,955
10,942
 8,547
 2,426
 46,598











Representing









Cost
  2,622
      -
16,011
4,955
10,942
8,547
2,426
45,503

Valuation
     -
 1,095
     -
     -
     -
     -
     -
  1,095


 2,622
 1,095
16,011
 4,955
10,942
 8,547
 2,426
 46,598











Depreciation



















At April 1, 1998
482
-
4,429
1,941
3,320
4,120
-
14,292

Charge for the









  year
57
-
1,121
339
559
888
-
2,964

Acquisition of









  businesses
-
-
-
-
-
6
-
6

Disposals
(1)
-
(9)
(1)
(69)
(33)
-
(113)

Transfer of accumulated depreciation









  on revaluation
-
(21)
-
-
-
-
-
(21)

Transfers
   (14)
    21
   277
     -
  (277)
    (7)
     -
      -











At March 31, 1999
   524
     -
 5,818
 2,279
 3,533
 4,974
     -
 17,128











Net book values



















At March 31, 1999
2,098
1,095
10,193
2,676
7,409
3,573
2,426
29,470











At March 31, 1998
2,327
1,731
7,768
3,005
7,824
3,340
2,409
28,404











 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  --  (Continued)

12.
Fixed assets -- (Continued)

Investment properties of the Group were revalued at March 31, 1999 by an executive of the Group, who is an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors and a qualified surveyor, on an open market value basis, taking into account their existing use, subject to existing tenancies or with vacant possession and free from encumbrances. The revaluation deficit of HK$878 million (1998: surplus of HK$366 million) has been transferred to the investment properties revaluation reserve. The current year revaluation is the net effect of the upwards revaluation of properties newly classified as investment properties during the year and a downwards revaluation of investment properties held at April 1, 1998.

 
Gross rental receivable from the Group’s investment properties amounted to HK$158 million (1998: HK$109 million; 1997: HK$40 million).


The analysis of net book value of the Group’s properties all of which are situated in Hong Kong, comprises:


March 31,


1998
1998
1999
1999


HK$
HK$
HK$
HK$


(in millions)


Leasehold land & buildings
Investment properties
Leasehold land & buildings
Investment properties

At cost/valuation:





Long-term leasehold





-- not less than fifty years
837
1,382
633
1,095

Medium-term leasehold





-- less than fifty years but





   not less than ten years
  1,490
  349
1,331
-

Short-term leasehold





-- less than ten years
     -
      -
     134
      -


2,327
1,731
2,098
1,095

The Group capitalized operating costs of HK$1,017 million during the year (1998: HK$1,061 million; 1997: HK$1,232 million).

13. Short-term Borrowings


March 31,


1998
1999


HK$
HK$


(in millions)





Bank loans and overdrafts
2,790
2,088

At March 31, 1999, the Group had unutilized borrowing facilities of HK$8,689 million (1998: HK$8,908 million).

The Group, through its subsidiaries, arranged short-term bank loans to finance the purchase of fixed assets.

The weighted average interest rate on outstanding short-term borrowings at March 31, 1999 and 1998 was 6.2 per cent and 5.3 per cent, respectively.

 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  --  (Continued)

14.
Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities


Accounts payable and accrued liabilities comprise the following:


March 31,


    1998
1999


     HK$
HK$


(in millions)





Trade payables
1,478
2,045

Fixed asset creditors
267
498

Customer deposits
555
489

Accrued expenses



     --  purchase of fixed assets
1,467
797

     --  others
2,710
1,856

Other creditors
    44
   168


6,521
5,853

Payables to Cable and Wireless plc Group companies
   202
   151


6,723
6,004

15.
Deferred Taxes


   1998
  1999



    HK$
   HK$




(in millions)

Opening balance

716
739

Transfer from profit and loss account (Note 6)
   23
  119

Closing balance

739
858

Deferred taxes provided in the financial statements and the total potential liability, including amounts for which provision has been made, are as follows:




Total Potential


Amount Provided

Liability


 1998
1999
  1998
  1999


HK$
HK$
HK$
HK$


(in millions)

Tax effect of timing differences due to:





Capital allowances in excess of related





     Depreciation
22
184
2,936
2,820

Leasing partnerships
645
619
645
619

Others
    72
   55
    72
    55


739
858
3,653
3,494


No provision for deferred taxation has been made in respect of the revaluation surplus arising on investment properties as the disposal of these assets at their carrying value would result in capital gains which the directors consider are not subject to any tax liability.

 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  --  (Continued)

16.
Lease Obligations

As Lessee

Rental expense under operating leases was HK$752 million in 1999, HK$555 million in 1998 and HK$365 million in 1997. Future minimum lease payments under operating leases that have initial or remaining lease terms in excess of one year are as follows:


HK$

Year ending March 31,

(in millions)




2000
589

2001
283

2002
129

2003
96

2004
84

After 2005
454

Minimum lease payments
1,635


Annual operating lease commitments payable within one year, analyzed according to the period in which the lease expires are as follows:


  1998

 1999


Land


Land



and
Other

and
Other


buildings
assets

buildings
assets


HK$
HK$

HK$
HK$


(in millions)

Payable within one year






  - Leases expiring within






      one year
84
49

226
8

  - Leases expiring between






      one and five years
193
43

238
73

  - Leases expiring over






      five years
   14
   53

    6
   38


291
145

470
119

As Lessor

The Group leases equipment to customers on an operating lease basis; the majority of these leases are cancelable. The net book value of such equipment, which is included in other plant and equipment, is as follows:


March 31,


1998
1999


HK$
HK$


(in millions)





Customer equipment at cost
566
1,195

Less: Accumulated depreciation
451
790

Net book value
115
405

 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  --  (Continued)
16.
Lease Obligations (continued)
The rental income in respect of operating leases for the above customer equipment during the year amounted to HK$140 million (1998: HK$143 million; 1997: HK$146 million).

17.
Commitments and Contingencies


Capital Commitments
At March 31, 1999, capital commitments under contracts for construction of fixed assets not included in the balance sheet amounted to HK$716 million (1998: HK$2,033 million).


Capital expenditure authorized by the Directors but not contracted for amounted to HK$1,259 million (1998: HK$1,578 million).
Financial Commitments

At March 31, 1998, the Company has committed to provide up to HK$190 million (1997: HK$216 million) in loans to fund telecommunications projects being undertaken by business partners.

Contingent Liabilities

The Group has issued a guarantee in the amount of HK$126 million (1998: HK$126 million) in respect of an investment commitment of an associated company.

18.
Shareholders' Equity
The movements in consolidated shareholders' equity for the three years ended March 31, 1999 are as follows:





Investment







properties




Share 
Share
Capital
revaluation
Retained



capital
premium
reserves
reserve
profit
Total


HK$
HK$
HK$
HK$
HK$
HK$


(in millions)









April 1, 1996
5,654
365  
11
        -
16,117
22,147









Profit attributable to







 Shareholders
      -
     -
     -
       -
11,178
11,178

Shares issued in lieu







 of cash dividends
193
(193)
     -
       -
5,164
5,164

Goodwill on acquisition







 of associated company
      -
     -
     -
       -
(53)
(53)

Surplus arising on Revaluation
      -
     -
     -
707
-
707

Dividends
      -
     -
     -
     -
(8,855)
(8,855)

March 31, 1997
5,847
172
11 
707
23,551
30,288

 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  --  (Continued)

18.
Shareholders' Equity -- (continued)




Investment







properties




Share
Share
Capital
revaluation
Retained



capital
premium
reserves
reserve
profit
Total


HK$
HK$
HK$
HK$
HK$
HK$









Profit attributable to shareholders







 
    -
     -
     -
       -
17,028
17,028

Shares issued in lieu of cash dividends
108
(108)
     -
       -
3,609
3,609

Goodwill on acquisition of subsidiary
     -
     -
     -
       -
(4,215)
(4,215)

Goodwill written back on disposal of







 interest in associated company
     -
     -
     -
       -
9
9

Surplus arising on revaluation
    -
     -
     -
    366
       -
 366

Dividends
     -
     -
     -
       -
(10,138)
(10,138)

March 31, 1998
5,955
64
11
1,073
29,844
36,947









Profit attributable to shareholders
-
-
-
-
11,507
11,507

Shares issued in lieu of cash dividends
25
(25)
-
-
729
729

Issue costs
-
(1)
-
-
-
(1)

Goodwill on acquisition







 of businesses
-
-
-
-
(240)
(240)

Adjustment to goodwill







 on previous acquisition
-
-
-
-
137
137

Deficit arising on revaluation
-
-
-
(878)
-
(878)

Dividends
     -
     -
     -
       -
(10,185)
(10,185)

March 31, 1999
5,980
38
11
195
31,792
38,016


The Group’s retained profit included the retained losses attributable to associated companies of HK$3 million (1998: retained profit of HK$1 million).


Dividends per share were HK$0.763 in 1997, HK$0.852 in 1998 and HK$0.852 in 1999.

On December 30, 1996, 192,420,604 shares were issued as fully paid new shares in lieu of interim cash dividends for the year ended March 31, 1997, at a value of HK$13.30 per share.  An amount of HK$192 million standing to the credit of the share premium account was applied in paying up the shares.

On July 11, 1997, 192,842,364 shares were issued as fully paid new shares in lieu of final cash dividends for the year ended March 31, 1997, at a value of HK$16.81 per share.  On December 31, 1997, 23,168,777 shares were issued as fully paid new shares in lieu of interim cash dividends for the year ended March 31,1998, at a value of HK$15.87 per share.  An amount of HK$108 million standing to the credit of the share premium account was applied in paying up the shares. 

On July 30, 1998,  39,966,458 shares were issued as fully paid new shares in lieu of final cash dividends for the year ended March 31, 1998, at a value of HK$14.81 per share. On December 31, 1998,  9,555,254 shares were issued as fully paid new shares in lieu of interim cash dividends for the year ended March 31, 1999, at a value of HK$14.33 per share. An amount of HK$25 million standing to the credit of the share premium account was applied in paying up the shares.

 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  --  (Continued)

19. Dividends


1997
  1998
  1999


HK$
   HK$
   HK$



(in millions)






Interim dividend HK$0.386 per share
3,979
4,588
4,612

   (1998: HK$0.386; 1997: HK$0.346)




Proposed final dividend HK$0.466 per share
 4,876
  5,550
  5,573

   (1998: HK$0.466; 1997: HK$0.417)





8,855
10,138
10,185


Shareholders were given the option to receive new fully paid shares in lieu of the interim and final cash dividend for the year ended March 31, 1998 and the interim cash dividend for the year ended March 31, 1999. (see Note 18). A similar option is to be proposed in respect of the final cash dividend for the year ended March 31, 1999.

20.
Earnings per Share


(a)
Basic earnings per share


The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the profit attributable to shareholders of HK$11,507 million (1998: HK$17,028 million; 1997: HK$11,178 million) and the weighted average number of shares of 11,938,619,787 in issue throughout the year (1998: 11,838,656,407 shares; 1997: 11,495,713,724 shares).


(b)
Diluted earnings per share

The calculation of diluted earnings per share is based on the profit attributable to shareholders of HK$11,507 million and the weighted average number of shares of 11,942,688,101 after adjusting for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. There were no dilutive potential ordinary shares in existence during the financial year ended March 31 1998.




1999




Number of shares

Weighted average number of shares used in




calculating basic earnings per share

11,938,619,787

Deemed issue of shares at no consideration

4,068,314

Weighted average number of shares used in




calculating diluted earnings per share

11,942,688,101

 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  --  (Continued)

20.
Earnings per Share



(c)
Basic earnings per share before exceptional items

The calculation of basic earnings per share before exceptional items for the prior year is based on the adjusted earnings of HK$12,470 million and the weighted average number of shares of 11,838,656,407 in issue throughout the year. Adjusted earnings are reconciled as follows:



1997

1998

1999



HK$

HK$

HK$



(in millions)









Profit attributable to shareholders

11,178

17,028

11,507

Less: exceptional items

-

4,558

-

Adjusted earnings

11,178

12,470

11,507

21.
Retirement Schemes
The Group's principal retirement scheme covers substantially all the permanent staff in the Group. The scheme is established under trust and is administered by an independent trustee. The scheme is defined benefit in nature whereby the retirement benefits are based on the employees' remuneration and length of service.

The funding policy in respect of the scheme is based on valuations by an independent actuary and the scheme is funded in accordance with the actuary’s recommendation from time to time on the basis of periodic valuations. During the year, based on the recommendation of the actuary, a special contribution of HK$400 million was made to the scheme on top of the regular funding.

Total retirement scheme cost charged to the profit and loss account, including amortization of the special contribution, was HK$410 million (1998: HK$398 million; 1997: HK$398 million) which was determined in accordance with the accounting policy described in Note 1.  The assumptions adopted for the purpose of determining the profit and loss account charge were the same as those described below but scheme assets were valued using a three year quarterly moving average method. The special contribution made during the year was allocated over the expected remaining service lives of the participants. 

The latest actuarial valuation of the retirement funds was carried out at December 31, 1998 by Mr. A.G. Stott of Watson Wyatt Hong Kong Limited, Fellow of the Faculty of Actuaries of the United Kingdom, using the attained age method. The valuation assumes that the retirement scheme will continue in existence allowing for changes in membership, earnings and expected future returns on scheme assets and that the average long term rate of return on the assets of the scheme will be 2% p.a. higher than the rate of salary escalation. The actuary is of the opinion that the value of the scheme assets was sufficient to cover 103% of the aggregate vested liability as at December 31, 1998, that is, the total value of the benefits which would be payable had the scheme been discontinued at that date.

 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  --  (Continued)
21.
Retirement Schemes -- (continued)
US GAAP

For US GAAP reporting, the Group has adopted the provisions of SFAS No. 87, "Employers' Accounting for Pensions”, beginning in fiscal year 1990, as amended by SFAS No. 132, “Employers’ Disclosures about Pensions and Other Post-retirement Benefits”.  SFAS No. 87 requires that plan assets and obligations should be measured at the balance sheet date or at a date within three months thereof (measurement date). Starting from fiscal year 1991, management elected to prospectively move the measurement date from March 31 to December 31 to facilitate earlier reporting to the shareholders. For financial statement reporting purposes, the impact of the change in measurement date is immaterial. Disclosures in accordance with US GAAP for all Company-sponsored plans are as follows:


Year ended December 31,


1996
1997
1998


  HK$
HK$
HK$


           (in millions)

Changes in benefit obligation




Projected benefit obligation,     




  at beginning of year
6,065
6,234
6,597

Gross service cost
537
520
424

Interest cost
503
512
600

Actual employee contributions
50
50
46

Actuarial loss/(gain)
88
(238)
(122)

Benefits paid
(1,009)
  (481)
  (798)

Benefit obligation, at end of year
6,234
6,597
6,747











Changes in plan assets




Fair value of plan assets, at beginning of year     
5,686
6,193
6,008

Actual return on plan assets
1,033
(124)
418

Actual employer contributions
433
370
760

Actual employee contributions
50
50
46

Benefits paid
(1,009)
  (481)
  (798)

Fair value of plan assets, at end of year
6,193
6,008
6,434











Funded status
(41)
(589)
(314)

Unrecognized actuarial loss
168
650
703

Unrecognized prior service cost
5
4
3

Unrecognized transition obligation
 (191)
 (170)
  (149)

Net amount recognized
(59)
(105)
243






Amounts recognized in the balance 




  sheets consist of:




      Prepaid pension cost
-
-
243

      Accrued benefit liability
  (59)
 (105)
    -

Net amount recognized
(59)
(105)
243
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21.
Retirement Schemes -- (continued)


Weighted-average assumptions are:


1996
1997
1998


%
%
%






Discount rate
8.5
9.5
9.0






Expected return on plan assets
9.0
9.5
9.5






Rate of salary increase
7.5
7.5
7.0






Components of net periodic benefit cost




Net service cost*
487
470
375

Interest cost
503
512
600

Expected return on plan assets
(520)
(555)
(562)

Amortization of prior service cost
1
1
1

Amortization of transition obligation
(21)
(21)
(21)

Recognized actuarial loss
    9
     9
    19

Net periodic benefit cost
459
416
412







* Net service cost = Gross service cost - Expected employee contributions
22.
Related Party Transactions

(a)
Trading transactions with fellow subsidiaries and associates



During the year a subsidiary of the Group (‘Subsidiary’) has conducted transactions with fellow subsidiaries and associates of the Group in the ordinary course of international telecommunications business. The Subsidiary receives accounting rate inpayments (included under ‘turnover’) for incoming calls to Hong Kong and pays the overseas operators accounting rate outpayments (included under ‘allocations to other telecommunications operators’) for outgoing calls. The accounting rates are mutually agreed between the Subsidiary and the fellow subsidiaries and associates on an arm’s length basis in accordance with the standard industry practice. For the year ended March 31 1999, the inpayments received from fellow subsidiaries and associates amounted to HK$275 million (1998 : HK$268 million; 1997: HK$223 million) and outpayments totaled HK$202 million (1998 : HK$190 million; 1997: HK$222 million).


(b)
Non-trading transactions 

During the year, the Company paid management fees of HK$112 million (1998 : HK$221 million; 1997: HK$210 million) to the holding company, Cable and Wireless plc, under an agreement signed on December 28 1994,  for the provision of management and technical services. The amount payable by the Company is based on a sum equal to the cost of service provided plus an uplift figure, currently at 7.2% (1998 : 7.2%; 1997: 7.2%). The agreement can be terminated by either party giving not less than two years’ prior written notice to the other. At March 31 1999, neither party had given written notice to terminate the agreement.
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22.
Related Party Transactions --  (Continued)


(b)
Non-trading transactions --  (continued)
During the year, the Group entered into an agreement with Cable & Wireless Global Markets (‘CWGM’) on a new arrangement for the provision of telecommunications services to global customers with effect from April 1 1998. CWGM is the trade name of a wholly owned subsidiary of Cable and Wireless plc. Under the agreement, the Group transferred the management of certain of its existing business contracts with 31 multinational customers to CWGM in return for the Group becoming the exclusive supplier of telecommunications services in Hong Kong and the Asia region for such customers on normal commercial terms. The purpose of the transaction is to protect and grow the Company’s revenues in the important and competitive multinational sector through restructuring its existing commercial arrangements with Cable and Wireless plc which is an established global operator. The sale of  telecommunications services to CWGM for the year ended March 31 1999 amounted to HK$414 million.

The Group also pays a global services management fee of HK$101 million to CWGM for its central coordination of global managed services. The fee is dependent on the services provided by CWGM and is calculated at the rate of 17.5% of the relevant revenues achieved. The Group received an administration fee of HK$9 million for providing various administrative services to CWGM. These services are provided by the Group at cost plus an uplift figure of 5%.


As at March 31 1999 the Company has an outstanding loan balance due from MobileOne (Asia) Pte Ltd, an associated company, of HK$119 million (1998: HK$63 million). The loan is unsecured, non-interest bearing and has no fixed terms of repayment.

Balances as at March 31:
1998
1999


HK$
HK$


(in millions)





Amounts due from holding company and fellow subsidiaries (note 8)
188
147

Loan to an associated company (note 10)
63
119

Amounts due to holding company and fellow subsidiaries (note 14)
202
151

23.
Directors’ and Senior Management’s Remuneration


(a)
Directors’ remuneration


Year ended March 31,


1997
1998
1999


HK$
HK$
HK$


(millions)






Directors’ fees
2
2
2

Basic salaries and other emoluments
24
29
28

Discretionary bonuses
4
5
7

Pension contributions
1
1
2

Commencement of service payment
  1
  -
   -


32
37
39

Housing costs accounted for 30% (1998: 35%; 1997: 33%) of remuneration.
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23.
Directors’ and Senior Management’s Remuneration -- (Continued)

Discretionary bonuses for 1999 includes Cable and Wireless plc shares awarded to the Directors on 13 May 1998 in respect of the year ended 31 March 1998 under the Long Term Incentive Plan. Based on the market price of the shares on 12 May 1998, the total value of the shares awarded was $4 million.
The number of directors whose remuneration fell within the bands set out below is as follows:




Number of Directors




1997

1998

1999

HK$

HK$






Nil
-
 1,000,000
10

11

11

1,500,001
-
 2,000,000
 1

 -

-

3,500,001
-
 4,000,000
 -

1

-

5,500,001
-
 6,000,000
 -

 -

1

6,000,001
-
 6,500,000
 2

 -

-

6,500,001
-
 7,000,000
 1

 1

2

7,000,001
-
 7,500,000
 -

 2

-

7,500,001
-
 8,000,000
 -

 -

1

9,000,001
-
 9,500,000
 1

 -

1

9,500,001
-
10,000,000
 -

 1

-


No directors waived the right to receive emoluments during the year.


The directors’ fees above include HK$1 million (1998: HK$1 million; 1997: HK$1 million) paid to the independent non-executive directors. They received no other emoluments from the Company or any of its subsidiaries.


(b)
Directors’ share options
In addition to the above emoluments, certain Directors were granted options to acquire ordinary shares in Cable and Wireless plc and the Company. The details of share options granted to the Directors during the year are as follows:

Cable and Wireless plc Senior Employees’ Share Option Scheme:

Date of
Option
Number of
Exercisable

grant
price
share options
from
to







8 Jun 1998
£7.046
153,000
8 Jun 2001
7 Jun 2005

25 Feb 1999
£8.488
182,597
25 Feb 2002
24 Feb 2006

Cable & Wireless HKT Limited Employee Share Option Scheme:

Date of
Option
Number of
Exercisable

grant
price
share options
from
to







1 Feb 1999
HK$1.00
126,455
3 Dec 2001
31 Dec 2001


(c)
Senior management’s remuneration

The five highest paid individuals in the Group are Directors of the Company whose total emoluments are included above.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  --  (Continued)

24.
Reconciliation of Net Operating Income to Net Cash Inflow from Operating 
Activities


Year ended March 31,


1997

1998

1999


HK$

HK$

HK$


(in millions)








Operating profit
12,203

13,251

11,838

Depreciation
2,190

2,443

2,964

Loss on disposal of interest in associated company
-

1

-

Decrease in provision for investment
-

(6)

-

(Gain)/Loss on disposal of fixed assets
8

(36)

8

Movements in working capital :






   Increase in inventories
(89)

(47)

(184)

   Increase in debtors
(1,215)

(559)

650

   Increase in creditors
    225

     64

   (152)

Net cash inflow from operating activities
13,322

15,111

15,124








25.
Purchase of businesses


1999


HK$

Net assets acquired:
(in millions)




Fixed assets
67

Current assets
26

Cash and cash equivalents
1

Current liabilities
     (18)

Minority shareholders interest
    (2)


74

Goodwill arising on consolidation
   240

Satisfied by: cash paid
314




The following acquisitions were made by the Group during the year:

On December 30, 1998, the Group acquired 100% of the Internet business from Hong Kong Star Internet Limited.

On March 1, 1999, the Group acquired 85% of the issued share capital of FIC Network Service, Inc (‘FICNet’) in Taiwan. 

The post acquisition losses of the acquired businesses of HK$2 million has been included in the results of the Group for the year ended March 31, 1999.

The Group acquired 100 per cent of the issued share capital of Pacific Link Communications Limited (‘Pacific Link’), a mobile telecommunications services provider, effective from January 8, 1998.  The acquisition has been accounted for as a purchase and the post acquisition profit of Pacific Link of HK$66 million has been included in the results of the Group for the year ended March 31, 1998.

 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  --  (Continued)

25.
Purchase of businesses -- (continued)

The unaudited pro forma results below assume the acquisitions occurred at the beginning of the fiscal years ending March 31, 1998 and 1999:


Year ended March 31,


1998

1999


HK$

HK$


(in millions)






Total turnover
36,322

32,546






Profit attributable to shareholders
19,353

11,496






Earnings per share
1.625

0.961

The pro forma results do not purport to be indicative of the results that would have actually been obtained had the acquisitions been consummated at the beginning of fiscal 1998 or at the beginning of fiscal 1999 or of future operations of the combined companies under the ownership and management of the Company.

The businesses acquired during the year contributed HK$3 million to the Group’s net operating cash outflows.

26.
Analysis of net outflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect of purchase of businesses


1999


HK$


(in millions)




Cash consideration
(314)

Cash at bank and in hand acquired
     1

Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents


  in respect of purchase of businesses
(313)




27.
Analysis of Changes in Financing During the Year


Minority


Interest


HK$


(in millions)

Balance at April 1, 1998
105

Net cash outflow from financing
(1)

Dividends paid
(15)

Acquisition of subsidiary
2

Share of net profit attributable to 

 minority shareholders
   36

Balance at March 31, 1999
127
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28. Principal Subsidiary Companies



Percentage of
Place of



Issued share
issued share 
incorporation
Principal 

Name
capital
capital held
/ operation
activities



Direct
Indirect



Subsidiaries








Cable & Wireless HKT CAS Limited
2 shares of HK$10 each
100.0

Hong Kong
Provision of telecommunications services








Cable & Wireless HKT Telephone Limited
2,163,783,209 shares of HK$1 each

100.0
Hong Kong
Provision of telecommunications

services








Cable & Wireless HKT International Limited
100 ordinary shares of HK$10 each and 90,000,000 non-voting deferred shares of HK$10 each

100.0
Hong Kong
Provision of telecommunications services








Cable & Wireless HKT CSL Limited
80,008,000 shares of HK$1 each
100.0

Hong Kong
Sale of telecommunications products and provision of services








Cable & Wireless HKT Computasia Limited
1,200 shares 

of HK$1 each
100.0

Hong Kong
Provision of  computer services








Monance Limited
2 shares of HK$10 each
100.0

Hong Kong
Property investment








Cable & Wireless HKT Finance Limited
1 share of US$1 each
100.0

British Virgin
Financing








One2Free PersonalCom Limited
2 shares of HK$1 each

100.0
Hong Kong
Sale of telecommunications products and provision of services








Cable & Wireless HKT IMS Limited
2 shares of HK$1 each

100.0
Hong Kong
Provision of internet and

interactive multimedia services








Cable & Wireless HKT VOD Limited
95 ordinary shares of HK$1 each, 1 ‘A’ class share of HK$1 each and 4 ‘B’ class shares of HK$1 each

100.0
Hong Kong
Provision of interactive

multimedia services








Cable & Wireless HKT Teleservices Limited
2 shares of HK$1 each
100.0

Hong Kong
Provision of call center services








Cable & Wireless HKT Pacific Limited
2 shares of HK$10 each

100.0
Hong Kong/ Canada
Provision of telecommunications services








FIC Network Service, Inc.
10,000,000 shares of NT$10 each

85.0
Taiwan
Provision of 

internet services








Telecom Directories Limited


10,000 shares of

HK$1 each

51.0
Hong Kong
Publication of 

directories








Associated companies






Great Eastern Telecommunications Limited
43,112,715 shares of US$1 each
49.0

Cayman Islands
Investment








Abacus Distribution Systems (Hong Kong) Limited
15,600,000 shares of HK$1 each

37.0
Hong Kong
Provision of a 

computerized airline

system








MobileOne (Asia) Pte Ltd
85,000,100 shares of S$1 each

14.7
Singapore
Provision of mobile 

telephone services

 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  --  (Continued)

29.
Summary of Differences Between Hong Kong and United States Generally      Accepted Accounting Principles

The Group's financial statements are prepared in accordance with HK GAAP, which differ in certain significant respects from US GAAP. The significant differences relate principally to the following items and the adjustments considered necessary to restate profit attributable to shareholders (net income) and shareholders' equity in accordance with US GAAP are shown in the tables set out below.

(a)
Deferred taxes

The Group provides for deferred taxes using the liability method for timing differences only to the extent that there is a reasonable probability that a liability will arise in the foreseeable future. US GAAP requires full provision for deferred taxes under the asset and liability method on all temporary differences. For US GAAP purposes, the Group has complied with SFAS No. 109, "Accounting for Income Taxes".


(b)
Proposed final dividend


Under HK GAAP, dividends proposed after the end of the accounting period in respect of that accounting period are deducted in arriving at retained earnings at the end of the period.  US GAAP does not recognize a proposed final dividend as a reduction of retained earnings as it is declared after the year end.

(c)
Retirement scheme costs



The Group’s policy is that the regular cost of providing retirement benefits is charged to the profit and loss account over the service lives of the members of the schemes on the basis of level percentages of pensionable pay. Variations from regular cost arising from periodic actuarial valuations are allocated to the profit and loss account over the expected remaining service lives of the members. US GAAP requires that retirement scheme cost be recorded in accordance with SFAS No. 87, "Employers’ Accounting for Pensions" which recognizes in each accounting period the cost of providing retirement benefits earned by employees in that period. See Note 21.


(d)
Investment Properties
Under HK GAAP, investment properties are stated on the basis of appraisal values and depreciation expense is not provided on investment properties. Under US GAAP the investment properties are restated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation.


(e)
Scrip dividend
Under HK GAAP, where shareholders elect to receive dividends in scrip instead of cash, the share premium reserve is reduced by the par value of the share capital issued, and a like amount recorded to the share capital account.  Under US GAAP, such transaction is recorded as a reduction to retained earnings based on the fair value of the share capital issued, and a like amount recorded to the share capital and share premium accounts (in the aggregate).  This measurement difference between HK GAAP and US GAAP does not affect total shareholders’ equity, and accordingly, is not considered in the quantitative reconciliation of shareholders’ equity.
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29.
Summary of Differences Between Hong Kong and United States Generally Accepted Accounting Principles -- (Continued)

(f)
Goodwill
Under HK GAAP, goodwill arising on the acquisition of subsidiaries or businesses is charged directly to reserves on consolidation. Under US GAAP, the difference between purchase consideration and the net assets acquired is allocated based on the fair values of the net assets acquired, with any residual accounted for as an intangible asset and amortized over the estimated life of the benefits received of ten years.


(g)
Exceptional items
As disclosed in Note 4, under HK GAAP, the Group classified the net amount of cash compensation received and receivable for the surrender of the exclusive international license and the reduction of the carrying value of certain fixed and other assets as an exceptional gain in 1998. Under US GAAP, there is no such classification and the amount would be included in the determination of ‘operating profit’.

(h)
Mobile customer acquisition costs

Under HK GAAP, the direct costs of acquiring new mobile telephone customers are deferred and amortized over the shorter of the average subscription lives of customers or two years. US GAAP requires that capitalized customer acquisition costs are amortized over the initial contract period.  In addition, unamortized costs are expensed upon early contract termination.

(i)
Share option scheme
The Group follows the current practice in Hong Kong that no accounting entry is made on grant of share options to employees.  Under US GAAP, compensation expense for share options are recognized and amortized over the vesting period.  The amount of compensation expense is determined based upon the excess, if any, of the quoted market price of the shares over the exercise price of the options at the date of the grant and is amortized over the vesting period of the option concerned.


Pursuant to a share option scheme, options to purchase ordinary shares in the company were granted during the year to eligible employees at a price of HK$1 per share. The options will be exercisable during the period between December 3, 2001 to December 31, 2001. As at March 31, 1999, there were outstanding options in respect of a total of 26 million ordinary shares in the Company.  The Company discloses the fair value of its share option grants under the scheme in accordance with SFAS No. 123.
The per share fair value of share option granted during the year ended March 31, 1999 was HK$10.36 on the date of grant.
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29.
Summary of Differences Between Hong Kong and United States Generally Accepted Accounting Principles -- (Continued)
(i)
Share option scheme – (Continued)

The fair value of each option grant is estimated on the date of grant using the Black Scholes option-pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions used for grants in the current year.


1999

Dividend yield
4%

Expected volatility
33%

Risk-free interest rate
7%


Had the compensation cost for the Company’s stock-based compensation plans been determined consistent with SFAS No. 123, the Company’s US GAAP net income and earnings per share would have been reduced to the pro forma amounts indicated below:


Year ended March 31,


1997
1998
  1999
 1999


 HK$
HK$
   HK$
  US$


(in millions, except per Share and


per ADS data)

Net income 
- as reported 
10,853
16,646
11,137
1,428

 
- pro forma
10,853
16,646
11,139
1,428







Basic earnings per share - as reported 
 0.944
  1.406
0.934
0.120

 - pro forma
 0.944
  1.406
0.934
0.120







Basic earnings per ADS * - as reported
  9.44
  14.06
9.34
1.20

 - pro forma 
  9.44
  14.06
9.34
1.20







Diluted earnings per share - as reported
 0.944
  1.406
0.934
0.120

 - pro forma
 0.944
  1.406
0.934
0.120







Diluted earnings per ADS * - as reported
  9.44
  14.06
9.34
1.20

 - pro forma 
  9.44
  14.06
9.34
1.20

* One ADS is equivalent to 10 shares.

The effects of applying SFAS 123 for disclosing compensation cost under pronouncement may not be representative of the effects on reported net income for future years.

(j)
Recently issued accounting standards
In June 1998, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (‘FASB’) issued SFAS No. 133, ‘Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities’.  SFAS 133 establishes accounting and reporting standards for derivative instruments and for hedging activities.  SFAS 133 requires that an entity recognize all derivatives as either assets or liabilities in the statement of financial position and measure those instruments at fair value.  Changes in the fair value of derivatives are recorded each period in current earnings or other comprehensive income, depending on whether a derivative is designated as part of a hedge transaction and the type of hedge transaction.  SFAS 133, as amended, is effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2000.  The Company has not yet assessed the impact of the adoption of SFAS 133.
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29.
Summary of Differences Between Hong Kong and United States Generally Accepted

      
Accounting Principles -- (Continued)

The following table summarizes the effect on net income of differences between HK GAAP and US GAAP.


Year ended March 31,


1997
1998
  1999
 1999


 HK$
HK$
   HK$
  US$


(in millions, except per Share and


per ADS data)

Profit attributable to shareholders





 (net income) as reported under HK GAAP
11,178
17,028
11,507
1,475

US GAAP adjustments :





 Deferred taxes
(254)
(265)
315
40

 Retirement scheme costs
(61)
(18)
(1)
-

 Depreciation on investment property
  (10)
   (9)
(23)
(3)

 Amortization of goodwill on acquisition
      -
    (90)
   (414)
   (53)

 Mobile customer acquisition costs
-
-
(229)
(29)

 Share option scheme
      -
     -
    (18)
    (2)

Profit attributable to shareholders





 (net income) under US GAAP
10,853
16,646
11,137
1,428







Earnings per share under US GAAP





  Basic
0.944
1.406
0.934
0.120

  Diluted
0.944
1.406
0.934
0.120







Earnings per ADS under US GAAP *





  Basic
  9.44
  14.06
9.34
1.20

  Diluted
  9.44
  14.06
9.34
1.20








*  One ADS is equivalent to 10 shares.

The following table summarizes the effect on shareholders' equity of the differences between HK GAAP and US GAAP.


March 31,


1998
1999
1999


HK$
HK$
US$


(in millions)






Shareholders' equity as reported under HK GAAP
36,947
38,016
4,874

US GAAP adjustments :




  Deferred taxes
(2,931)
(2,616)
(335)

  Proposed final dividend
 5,550
5,573
714

  Retirement scheme costs
   103
102
13

  Property revaluation reserve
(1,073)
(195)
(25)

  Accumulated depreciation on investment property
   (20)
(43)
(6)

  Goodwill on acquisition of subsidiaries
 4,215
4,318
554

  Amortization of goodwill on acquisition
   (90)
   (504)
   (65)

  Mobile customer acquisition costs
      -
   (229)
   (29)

Shareholders' equity under US GAAP
42,701
44,422
5,695
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29.
Summary of Differences Between Hong Kong and United States Generally Accepted

 Accounting Principles -- (Continued)


Under HK GAAP, the Group presents its cash flows for: (i) operating activities; (ii) returns on investments and servicing of finance; (iii) taxation; (iv) investing activities; and (v) financing activities. Under US GAAP, only three categories of cash flows activities are presented: (i) operating activities; (ii) investing activities; and (iii) financing activities. Summarized cash flows data by operating, investing and financing activities in accordance with US GAAP are as follows:



Year ended March 31,


    1997
    1998 
    1999
  1999


     HK$
     HK$
     HK$
   US$


(in millions)

Net cash provided by (used in):
8,951.8




Operating activities  (1)
12,462
14,723
15,047
1,929

Investing activities  (2)
(8,320)
(6,986)
1,521
249

Financing activities  (3)
 (1,570)
 (8,289)
 (10,135)
 (1,299)







Change in cash and cash





  equivalents 
2,572
(552)
6,433
879

Cash and cash equivalents at





  beginning of year (4)
  3,964
  6,536
   5,984
    767







Cash and cash equivalents at 





  end of year (4)
6,536
5,984
12,417
1,646







(1)
Includes effect of cash flows from interest income received, interest expense paid and profits tax paid, and excludes effect of movements in certain loans and non-current assets.


(2)
Includes effect of movements in certain loans and non-current assets.

(3) Includes effect of dividends paid and classification of bank loans and overdrafts repayable within three months as financing activities.

(4)
Cash and cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of less than three months and are readily convertible to known amounts of cash. They exclude bank loans and overdrafts repayable within three months.
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30.
Financial Instruments

The Group operates international telecommunication services giving rise to some exposure to risks from changes in foreign exchange rates on its settlement with overseas administrations. Financial instruments are utilized by the Group to reduce those risks, as explained in this note. In addition, the Group has entered into interest rate swaps to manage its interest rate risk. The Group does not hold or issue financial instruments for trading purposes.


(a)
Interest Rate Risk Management
From time to time, the Group enters into interest rate swaps and interest rate options to manage its interest rate risk. At March 31, 1999, the total notional principal amount of such swaps and options was HK$6,260 million (1998: HK$530 million).

(b)
Foreign Exchange Risk Management
The Group enters into foreign exchange contracts in managing its foreign exchange risk, as indicated in the following table.


The Group enters into forward exchange contracts to hedge foreign currency exposure arising from settlement with overseas administrations and/or other business transactions denominated in foreign currency. The term of the forward exchange contracts is generally no more than one year. The Group does not anticipate any material adverse effect on its financial position resulting from its involvement in these instruments, nor does it anticipate non-performance by any of its counterparties. The contractual amount of the Group’s forward exchange contracts as at March 31, 1999 was HK$1,150 million (contractual amount at March 31, 1998: HK$336 million).

The table below summarizes by major currency the contractual amounts of the Group’s forward exchange contracts in Hong Kong dollars to buy or sell foreign currencies. Foreign currency amounts are translated at rates current at the balance sheet date.


March 31,


1998
1999


(HK$ millions)





Australian dollars
-
2

Pound sterling
73
23

Deutsche mark
108
32

Japanese yen
97
33

French franc
58
19

Swedish krona
-
2

Singapore dollars
-
7

United States dollars
-
1,032


336
1,150

The highest, average and lowest amounts of forward contracts outstanding during the year ended March 31, 1999 were HK$7,957 million, HK$3,272 million and HK$450 million respectively.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  --  (Continued)

30.
Financial Instruments –- (Continued)


(c)
Monitoring and control of financial instruments

The Group has established treasury policies, guidelines, and control procedures and uses a treasury reporting system to record and monitor its treasury position. The level of hedging is determined in light of commercial commitments and is reviewed regularly by the Finance Director and senior finance executives. Counterparties to forward exchange contracts are major financial institutions and the Group does not require collateral or security on off balance sheet instruments. The Group continually monitors its positions and the credit rating of its counterparties and limits the amount of contracts with any one party. The Group does not consider that it has a significant exposure to risk from any individual counterparty or group of counterparties.

31.
Concentrations of Credit Risk and Revenue

Credit risk represents the accounting loss that would be recognized at the reporting date if counterparties failed completely to perform as contracted. Concentrations of credit risk (whether on or off balance sheet) that arise from financial instruments exist for groups of customers or counterparties when they have similar economic characteristics that would cause their ability to meet contractual obligations to be similarly affected by changes in economic or other conditions. The Group does not have a significant exposure to any individual debtors or counterparty.
The major concentrations of credit risk arise from the Group’s receivables in relation to the location of debtors as presented in the following table.


1998

1999


Credit Risk

Credit Risk


HK$

HK$


(in millions)






North America
842 

115

South America
4

4

Europe
210

105

Asia and Pacific
439

379

Middle East
24

18

Africa
9

12

Hong Kong
2,437

2,250


The amounts of credit risk shown do not represent expected losses.

In the year ended March 31, 1999 approximately 40 per cent of the Group’s revenue was derived from the provision of international telephone services.

32.
Fair Value of Financial Instruments



The following table presents the carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s significant financial instruments at March 31, 1998 and 1999.  SFAS No. 107, “Disclosures about Fair Value of Financial Instruments”, defines the fair value of a financial instrument as the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale.

 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  --  (Continued)

32.
Fair Value of Financial Instruments -- (continued)


1998

1999


Carrying

Fair

Carrying

Fair


Amount

Value

Amount

Value


HK$

HK$

HK$

HK$


(in millions)










Term deposits and bank and








  cash balances
14,719

14,719

16,816

16,816

Non-current bank









deposits and receivables
834

723

962

914

Employee housing








  loans   (Note)
37

     -

42

-

Other unlisted investments
444

444

400

400

Short-term unlisted

  interest bearing notes
-

-

424

  424

Short-term borrowings
(2,790)

(2,790)

(2,088)

(2,088)

Interest rate swaps
-

-

-

2

Forward foreign exchange








  contracts
13

15

-

(2)

Interest rate cap
-

-

-

1

Forward rate agreements
-

-

-

4

Note:
Due to the nature of employee housing loans and financial guarantees it is not practicable to estimate their fair value. The Group has issued a guarantee in the amount of HK$126 million (1998: 126 million) in respect of an investment commitment of an associate company. This commitment is not expected to result in a material adverse effect on the Group’s financial results.                                                                                                                                                                

The following notes summarize the major methods and assumptions used in estimating the fair values of financial instruments.

Short-term financial instruments are valued at their carrying amounts included in the statement of financial position, which are reasonable estimates of fair value due to the relatively short period to maturity of the instruments. This approach applies to cash and cash equivalents and short-term borrowings.

For unquoted securities, the reported fair value is estimated by the Group on the basis of financial and other information.

Rates currently available to the Group for non-current bank deposits and receivables with similar terms and remaining maturities are used to estimate the fair value of such instruments as the present value of expected cash flows.

The fair value of derivatives generally reflects the estimated amounts that the Group would receive or pay to terminate the contracts at the balance sheet date. Dealer quotes were used to value most of the Group’s forward exchange contracts.

33 .
Comparative figures
Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform with the current year’s presentation.

SCHEDULE II

VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
Column A
Column B
Column C
Column D
Column E








Description
Balance at
Charged
Charged
Deductions
Balance


beginning
to costs
to other

at end of


of period
and
accounts

period



expenses





(HK$)
(HK$)
(HK$)
(HK$)
(HK$)


 (in millions)

Year ended March 31, 1997






Doubtful debt provisions
135
168
-
158
145

Inventory provisions
   34
   23
     -
   11
   46








Total
169
191
-
169
191








Year ended March 31, 1998






Doubtful debt provisions
145
206
-
161
190

Inventory provisions
   46
  105
     -
   21
  130








Total
191
311
-
182
320








Year ended March 31, 1999






Doubtful debt provisions 
190
156
-
205
141

Inventory provisions
  130
    18
     -
    65
    83








Total
320
174
-
270
224
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                     /S/ Donald J. Hess                          
Donald J. Hess
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� Includes revenues from international telephone, leased circuits and data services.


�  Excludes traffic delivered through international leased circuits from January 1, 1999.


�  Homeselect is a Cable & Wireless HKT value-added service package which includes optional features such as call waiting, call forwarding and call conferencing.


�  The Caller Display service enables the telephone number or name of the party making the incoming call to be shown on the display of a suitably equipped telephone set or on an adjunct unit.


�  Excludes customers accessing the Internet via dedicated leased lines or pre-paid dial-up calling cards.


�  The Shares are held by Cable and Wireless (Far East) Limited (“CWFE”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Cable and Wireless plc.





� On July 21, 1999, Cable and Wireless plc acquired 146,234,918 Shares in lieu of the final dividend of the Company for the year ended March 31, 1999 for a cash equivalent price of HK$20.54.  Following such acquisition, Cable and Wireless plc notified Cable & Wireless HKT of an interest in 6,591,868,471 Shares or approximately 54.39 per cent of the issued share capital.





� On July 6, 1999, China Telecom (Hong Kong) Group Limited (“China Telecom”) announced its intention to sell 156,000,000 Cable & Wireless HKT Shares.  Such Shares were sold on July 7, 1999 and China Telecom subsequently notified an interest in 1,298,173,381 Shares or approximately 10.86 per cent of the issued share capital of the Company.


�	See Note 4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for a discussion of these items.





�	For the five years ended March 31, 1999, basic earnings per share for both HK GAAP and US GAAP purposes have been calculated on the basis of 11,152.8 million, 11,195.5 million, 11,495.7 million, 11,838.7 million and 11,938.6 million Shares, respectively, being the weighted average number of Shares outstanding during each such year. See Notes 18 and 20 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.��For the year ended March 31, 1999, the diluted earnings per share was calculated based on the weighted average number of Shares of 11,942.7 million Shares after adjusting for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary Shares.  There were no dilutive potential ordinary Shares in existence during the four years ended March 31, 1998.





�	Computed on the basis that one ADS represents 10 Shares. Effective from June 13, 1995 the ADS ratio was changed from one ADS representing 30 Shares to one ADS representing 10 Shares. For comparison purposes, earnings per ADS and dividends per ADS for all periods presented were adjusted to one ADS representing 10 Shares.


�  Independent Non-Executive Director.


�  Employed by Cable and Wireless plc.


�  Employed by China Telecom.


�  Non-Executive Director of Cable and Wireless plc.


�  Chief Executive and Director of Cable and Wireless plc.
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